#### **<u>PROSPECTUS SUPPLEMENT</u>** (To prospectus dated March 16, 2010)

#### 6,248,791 SHARES OF COMMON STOCK, \$2.50 PAR VALUE

#### OFFICEMAX INCORPORATED

This prospectus supplement supplements the prospectus dated March 16, 2010, relating to the resale of 7,481,722 shares of our common stock to allow our master trust (the "Selling Stockholder"), which is the funding vehicle for the Company's six tax-qualified employee pension benefit plans (the "Plans"), to resell, from time to time, shares of our common stock that we contributed as a voluntary, excess contribution to the Selling Stockholder. Since the date that we contributed such shares to the Selling Stockholder, the Selling Stockholder has sold 2,082,931 of the 8,331,722 shares contributed to the Selling Stockholder, and the 6,248,791 shares specified above represents the number of shares remaining to be sold. This prospectus supplement should be read in conjunction with the prospectus dated March 16, 2010, including any supplements thereto, which is to be delivered with this prospectus supplement, and this prospectus supplement is qualified by reference to the prospectus and any supplements thereto. This prospectus supplement is not complete without, and may not be delivered or utilized except in connection with, the prospectus, including any supplements thereto.

#### **Current Report on Form 8-K**

On August 3, 2010, we filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission:

- Current Report on Form 8-K. The text of Item 5.02 of such Form 8-K and Exhibit 99.2, which is related to that item, are attached hereto as Exhibit 1.
- Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarterly period ended June 26, 2010. The text of such Form 10-Q is attached hereto as Exhibit 2.
- Current Report on Form 8-K. The text of such Form 8-K is attached hereto as Exhibit 3.

Neither the Securities and Exchange Commission nor any state securities commission has approved or disapproved of these securities or determined if this prospectus supplement or the accompanying prospectus is truthful or complete. Any representation to the contrary is a criminal offense.

The date of this prospectus supplement is August 5, 2010.

Exhibit 1

# UNITED STATES SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION

WASHINGTON, DC 20549

# FORM 8-K

**Current Report** 

Pursuant to Section 13 or 15(d) of The Securities Exchange Act of 1934

Date of Report: August 3, 2010 Date of earliest event reported: August 3, 2010

# **OFFICEMAX INCORPORATED**

(Exact name of registrant as specified in its charter)

Delaware

(State of Incorporation)

1-5057 (Commission File Number) 82-0100960 (IRS Employer Identification No.)

263 Shuman Blvd. Naperville, Illinois 60563 (Address of principal executive offices) (Zip Code)

(630) 438-7800

(Registrant's telephone number, including area code)

Check the appropriate box below if the Form 8-K filing is intended to simultaneously satisfy the filing obligation of the registrant under any of the following provisions:

□ Written communications pursuant to Rule 425 under the Securities Act (17 CFR 230.425)

Soliciting material pursuant to Rule 14a-12 under the Exchange Act (17 CFR 240.14a-12)

Dere-commencement communications pursuant to Rule 14d-2(b) under the Exchange Act (17 CFR 240.14d-2(b))

Dere-commencement communications pursuant to Rule 13e-4(c) under the Exchange Act (17 CFR 240.13e-4(c))

#### Item 2.02. Results of Operations and Financial Condition.

Omitted

# Item 5.02. Departure of Directors or Certain Officers; Election of Directors; Appointment of Certain Officers; Compensatory Arrangements of Certain Officers

#### **Director Restricted Stock Unit Awards**

Through the OfficeMax Incentive and Performance Plan (the "Plan") each non-employee director annually receives a form of long-term equity compensation. Since 2007, the amount of that award has been \$75,000. On July 28, 2010, the Executive Compensation Committee of the board of directors determined that the form of equity grant to be received by the directors in 2010 would be restricted stock units. In connection with the grant, each director will enter into a 2010 Director Restricted Stock Unit Award Agreement (an "Agreement"), in the form attached hereto as Exhibit 99.2.

The Agreement states that the award is subject to the terms of the Plan. The Agreement further states that the award will vest six months following the date of grant, if the recipient is still an OfficeMax Incorporated (the "Company") director on that date, and that it will be payable in shares of Company common stock six months following the date of a director's termination of service due to such director's (i) retirement or resignation from the Board, (ii) death or (iii) total and permanent disability. Unless otherwise approved by the board, if a director leaves the board before the award vests, other than as a result of death or disability, the award will be forfeited. The vesting and payment of the awards may accelerate upon a change in control in certain circumstances. The award is not transferable. Holders of units have no voting rights but do receive notional dividends (if any are paid), which are accumulated and paid in cash at the time the award is paid.

This summary does not purport to be complete and is subject to and qualified in its entirety by reference to the text of the form of Agreement, included as Exhibit 99.2 to this filing. Exhibit 99.2 is incorporated by reference into this Item 5.02.

#### Increase in 2010 Annual Incentive Award Target for Bruce Besanko.

On July 29, 2010 the board of directors increased Mr. Besanko's annual incentive target to 65%. This new target will apply to any payout made to Mr. Besanko under the 2010 annual incentive program on a pro rata basis.

#### Item 9.01 Financial Statements and Exhibits.

- (d) Exhibits.
- Exhibit 99.1OmittedExhibit 99.2Form of 2010 Director Restricted Stock Unit Award Agreement

## SIGNATURE

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned hereunto duly authorized.

Dated: August 3, 2010

### OFFICEMAX INCORPORATED

By: /s/ Matthew R. Broad

Matthew R. Broad Executive Vice President and General Counsel

-

## EXHIBIT INDEX

| Number       | Description   |
|--------------|---|
| Exhibit 99.1 | Omitted   |
| Exhibit 99.2 | Form of 2010 Director Restricted Stock Unit Award Agreement |

#### OFFICEMAX INCORPORATED 2010 Director Restricted Stock Unit Award Agreement

This **Restricted Stock Unit** Award (the "Award") is granted on <<**insert award date**>> (the "Award Date") by OfficeMax Incorporated ("OfficeMax") to <<**insert name**>> ("Director" or "you") pursuant to the 2003 OfficeMax Incentive and Performance Plan, as may be amended from time to time (the "Plan"), and pursuant to the following terms of this agreement (the "Agreement"):

- 1. **Terms and Conditions.** The Award is subject to all the terms and conditions of the Plan. All capitalized terms not defined in this Agreement shall have the meaning stated in the Plan. If there is any inconsistency between the terms of this Agreement and the terms of the Plan, the terms of the Plan shall control unless this Agreement explicitly states that an exception to the Plan is being made.
- 2. Award. You are hereby awarded << insert RSUs>> restricted stock units, at no cost to you, subject to the restrictions set forth in the Plan and this Agreement.
- 3. Vesting. Your Award will vest six months following the Award Date, <<iinsert award date>>, if you are then still an OfficeMax Director. Your Award will vest immediately if you terminate service as a director prior to the six month anniversary of the Award Date due to your death or total and permanent disability. Vested units will be payable six months following the date of your termination of service as a director due to your (i) retirement or resignation from the Board, (ii) death or (iii) total and permanent disability, as determined by OfficeMax in its sole and complete discretion, provided that such termination constitutes a separation from service under Section 409A of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended, including applicable regulations and other guidance promulgated thereunder ("Code"), or, if later, upon the first date that payment may be made without violating the requirements of Code Section 409A. Unless otherwise approved by the Board of Directors or as set forth in Section 4 below, if you terminate service as a director prior to six months following the Award Date for a reason other than death or total and permanent disability, your Award will be forfeited.
- 4. **Change in Control.** In the event of a Change in Control prior to the end of the vesting period pursuant to paragraph 3, the continuing entity may either continue this Award or replace this Award with an award of at least equal value with terms and conditions not less favorable than the terms and conditions provided in this Agreement, in which case the new award will vest and become payable according to the terms of the applicable award agreement. Notwithstanding any provisions of this Agreement or the Plan to the contrary, if the continuing entity does not so continue or replace this Award, all restrictions described in this Agreement will lapse with respect to all unvested restricted stock units held by you at the time of the Change in Control, so that all such restricted stock units will vest upon the Change in Control; payment of your Award will be made in the common stock of the continuing entity (or the parent thereof, as applicable) or in an equivalent amount of cash if such continuing entity (or the parent thereof, as applicable) does not maintain publicly traded common stock and shall be payable in accordance with paragraph 3.

1 of 3

- 5. **Nontransferability.** The restricted stock units awarded pursuant to this Agreement cannot be sold, assigned, pledged, hypothecated, transferred, or otherwise encumbered prior to payment.
- 6. **Stockholder Rights; Dividend Units.** With respect to the awarded restricted stock units, you are not a shareholder and do not have any voting rights. You will, however, receive notional dividend units on the awarded units equal to the amount of dividends paid on OfficeMax's common stock. Notional dividends paid on your restricted stock units will be accumulated in a bookkeeping account without interest until the payment of the underlying restricted stock units is made under paragraph 3. Dividend units accrued on forfeited restricted stock units will be forfeited.
- 7. **Settlement of RSUs.** Except as provided in paragraph 4, vested restricted stock units will be paid to you in whole shares of OfficeMax common stock. Partial shares, if any, and dividend units will be paid in cash.
- 8. **Payment of Taxes.** You acknowledge and agree that you are responsible for the tax consequences associated with the Award. It is the intention of OfficeMax that this Award not result in taxation under Code Section 409A and the Award shall be interpreted so as to comply with the requirements of Code Section 409A. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary herein, to the extent that any provision of this Award would otherwise result in taxation under Code Section 409A, such provision shall be deemed null and void. By accepting this Award, you agree that in the event that amendment of this Award is required in order to comply with Code Section 409A, you shall negotiate in good faith with OfficeMax with respect to amending the Award, provided that OfficeMax shall not be required to assume any increased economic burden in connection with any such amendment.
- 9. Use of Personal Data. By executing this Agreement, you hereby agree freely, and with your full knowledge and consent, to the collection, use, processing and transfer (collectively, the "Use") of certain personal data such as your name, compensation, nationality and job title, along with details of all past awards and current awards outstanding under the Plan (collectively, the "Data"), for the purpose of managing and administering the Plan. You further acknowledge and agree that OfficeMax and/or any of its Affiliates may make Use of the Data amongst themselves and/or any other third parties assisting OfficeMax in the administration and management of the Plan (collectively, the "Data Recipients"). In keeping therewith, you hereby further authorize any Data Recipient, including Data Recipients located in foreign jurisdictions, to continue to make Use of the Data, in electronic or other form, for the purposes of administering and managing the Plan, including without limitation, any necessary Use of such Data as may be required for the subsequent holding of shares on your behalf by a broker or other third party with whom you may elect to deposit any shares acquired through the Plan.

OfficeMax shall, at all times, take all commercially reasonable efforts to ensure that appropriate safety measures shall be in place to ensure the confidentiality of the Data, and that no Use will be made of the Data for any purpose other than the administration and management of the Plan. You may, at any time, review your Data and request necessary amendments to such Data. You may withdraw your consent to Use of the Data herein by notifying OfficeMax in writing at the address specified in paragraph 10; however by withdrawing your consent to use Data, you may affect your eligibility to participate in the Plan.

2 of 3

By executing this Agreement you hereby release and forever discharge OfficeMax from any and all claims, demands, actions, causes of action, damages, liabilities, costs, losses and expenses arising out of, or in connection with, the Use of the Data including, without limitation, any and all claims for invasion of privacy, defamation and any other personal, moral and/or property rights.

10. Acceptance of Terms and Conditions. You must sign this Agreement and return it to OfficeMax's Compensation Department on or before <<insert date>>, or the Award will be forfeited. Return your executed Agreement to: Pam Delaney by mail at OfficeMax, 263 Shuman Boulevard, Naperville, Illinois 60563 or by fax at 1-630-647-3722.

| OfficeMax Incorporated  | Awardee       |
|---|---------------|
| By:   | Signature:    |
| Bruce Besanko<br>Executive Vice President,<br>Chief Financial Officer and<br>Chief Administrative Officer | Printed Name: |
|   | Date:         |

3 of 3

Exhibit 2

# UNITED STATES SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION

Washington, D.C. 20549

# **FORM 10-Q**

# ☑ QUARTERLY REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934

For the quarterly period ended June 26, 2010

or

□ TRANSITION REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934

For the transition period from to

**Commission File Number: 1-5057** 

# **OFFICEMAX INCORPORATED**

(Exact name of registrant as specified in its charter)

**Delaware** (State or other jurisdiction of incorporation or organization)

263 Shuman Boulevard Naperville, Illinois (Address of principal executive offices) 82-0100960 (I.R.S Employer Identification No.)

> 60563 (Zip Code)

Accelerated filer

Smaller reporting company

X

(630) 438-7800

(Registrant's telephone number, including area code)

(Former name, former address and former fiscal year, if changed since last report)

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant (1) has filed all reports required to be filed by Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 during the preceding 12 months (or for such shorter period that the registrant was required to file such reports), and (2) has been subject to such filing requirements for the past 90 days. Yes 🗵 No 🗆

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant has submitted electronically and posted on its corporate Web site, if any, every Interactive Data File required to be submitted and posted pursuant to Rule 405 of Regulation S-T (§232.405 of this chapter) during the preceding 12 months (or for such shorter period that the registrant was required to submit and post such files). Yes  $\Box$  No  $\Box$ 

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a large accelerated filer, an accelerated filer, a non-accelerated filer or a smaller reporting company. See the definitions of "accelerated filer", "large accelerated filer" and "smaller reporting company" in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act.

Large accelerated filer

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a shell company (as defined in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act). Yes 🗆 No 🗵

Indicate the number of shares outstanding of each of the issuer's classes of common stock, as of the latest practicable date.

ClassShares Outstanding as of July 29, 2010Common Stock, \$2.50 par value85,013,849

# TABLE OF CONTENTS

#### PART I—FINANCIAL INFORMATION

| Item 1.  | Financial Statements  | 3  |
|----------|---|----|
| Item 2.  | Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations | 21 |
| Item 3.  | Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk                            | 34 |
| Item 4.  | Controls and Procedures   | 34 |
|          | PART II—OTHER INFORMATION   |    |
| Item 1.  | Legal Proceedings   | 35 |
| Item 1A. | Risk Factors  | 35 |
| Item 1B. | Unresolved Staff Comments   | 35 |
| Item 2.  | Unregistered Sales of Equity Securities and Use of Proceeds                           | 36 |
| Item 3.  | Defaults Upon Senior Securities   | 36 |
| Item 4.  | (Removed and Reserved)  | 36 |
| Item 5.  | Other Information   | 36 |

- Item 5. **Other Information**
- **Exhibits** Item 6.

2

## PART I-FINANCIAL INFORMATION

# ITEM 1. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

# OfficeMax Incorporated and Subsidiaries Consolidated Statements of Operations (thousands, except per-share amounts)

|   | Three Mo         | Three Months Ended |  |
|---|------------------|--------------------|--|
|   | June 26,<br>2010 | June 27,<br>2009   |  |
|   |                  | udited)            |  |
| Sales   | \$1,653,173      | \$1,657,878        |  |
| Cost of goods sold and occupancy costs                                  | 1,225,439        | 1,262,969          |  |
| Gross profit  | 427,734          | 394,909            |  |
| Operating expenses:   |                  |                    |  |
| Operating and selling   | 321,949          | 323,621            |  |
| General and administrative  | 80,514           | 70,455             |  |
| Other operating (income) expenses                                       | (2,841)          | 28,296             |  |
| Total operating expenses  | 399,622          | 422,372            |  |
| Operating income (loss)   | 28,112           | (27,463)           |  |
| Interest expense  | (18,372)         | (19,319)           |  |
| Interest income   | 10,588           | 15,115             |  |
| Other income (expense), net   | (86)             | 213                |  |
| Pre-tax income (loss)   | 20,242           | (31,454)           |  |
| Income tax (expense) benefit  | (7,293)          | 13,726             |  |
| Net income (loss) attributable to OfficeMax and noncontrolling interest | 12,949           | (17,728)           |  |
| Joint venture results attributable to noncontrolling interest           | (509)            | 780                |  |
| Net income (loss) attributable to OfficeMax                             | 12,440           | (16,948)           |  |
| Preferred dividends   | (679)            | (766)              |  |
| Net income (loss) available to OfficeMax common shareholders            | \$ 11,761        | \$ (17,714)        |  |
| Net income (loss) per common share:                                     |                  |                    |  |
| Basic   | \$ 0.14          | \$ (0.23)          |  |
| Diluted   | \$ 0.14          | \$ (0.23)          |  |

See accompanying notes to quarterly consolidated financial statements

# OfficeMax Incorporated and Subsidiaries Consolidated Statements of Operations (thousands, except per-share amounts)

|   | Six Mo           | Six Months Ended |  |
|---|------------------|------------------|--|
|   | June 26,<br>2010 | June 27,<br>2009 |  |
|   |                  | udited)          |  |
| Sales   | \$3,570,428      | \$3,569,602      |  |
| Cost of goods sold and occupancy costs                                  | 2,637,227        | 2,709,131        |  |
| Gross profit  | 933,201          | 860,471          |  |
| Operating expenses:   |                  |                  |  |
| Operating and selling   | 684,919          | 682,301          |  |
| General and administrative  | 159,468          | 139,898          |  |
| Other operating expenses  | 11,348           | 38,236           |  |
| Total operating expenses  | 855,735          | 860,435          |  |
| Operating income  | 77,466           | 36               |  |
| Interest expense  | (36,688)         | (38,667)         |  |
| Interest income   | 21,204           | 25,577           |  |
| Other income (expense), net   | (35)             | 2,840            |  |
| Pre-tax income (loss)   | 61,947           | (10,214)         |  |
| Income tax (expense) benefit  | (22,695)         | 5,517            |  |
| Net income (loss) attributable to OfficeMax and noncontrolling interest | 39,252           | (4,697)          |  |
| Joint venture results attributable to noncontrolling interest           | (1,364)          | 1,669            |  |
| Net income (loss) attributable to OfficeMax                             | 37,888           | (3,028)          |  |
| Preferred dividends   | (1,348)          | (1,538)          |  |
| Net income (loss) available to OfficeMax common shareholders            | \$ 36,540        | \$ (4,566)       |  |
| Net income (loss) per common share:                                     |                  |                  |  |
| Basic   | \$ 0.43          | \$ (0.06)        |  |
| Diluted   | \$ 0.43          | \$ (0.06)        |  |

See accompanying notes to quarterly consolidated financial statements 4

# OfficeMax Incorporated and Subsidiaries Consolidated Balance Sheets

### (thousands, except share and per-share amounts)

|                                       | June 26,<br>2010<br>(unaudited) | December 26,<br>2009 |
|---------------------------------------|---------------------------------|----------------------|
| ASSETS                                | (,                              |                      |
| Current assets:                       |                                 |                      |
| Cash and cash equivalents             | \$ 521,203                      | \$ 486,570           |
| Receivables, net                      | 503,965                         | 539,350              |
| Inventories                           | 762,110                         | 805,646              |
| Deferred income taxes and receivables | 121,554                         | 133,836              |
| Other current assets                  | 56,431                          | 55,934               |
| Total current assets                  | 1,965,263                       | 2,021,336            |
| Property and equipment:               |                                 |                      |
| Land and land improvements            | 40,902                          | 41,072               |
| Buildings and improvements            | 482,934                         | 483,133              |
| Machinery and equipment               | 786,365                         | 792,650              |
| Total property and equipment          | 1,310,201                       | 1,316,855            |
| Accumulated depreciation              | (914,396)                       | (894,707)            |
| Net property and equipment            | 395,805                         | 422,148              |
| Intangible assets, net                | 82,252                          | 83,806               |
| Investment in affiliates              | 175,000                         | 175,000              |
| Timber notes receivable               | 899,250                         | 899,250              |
| Deferred income taxes                 | 307,138                         | 300,900              |
| Other non-current assets              | 171,019                         | 167,091              |
| Total assets                          | \$3,995,727                     | \$4,069,531          |

See accompanying notes to quarterly consolidated financial statements

# OfficeMax Incorporated and Subsidiaries Consolidated Balance Sheets

### (thousands, except share and per-share amounts)

|   | June 26,<br>2010<br>(unaudited) | December 26,<br>2009 |
|---|---------------------------------|----------------------|
| LIABILITIES AND EQUITY  | (unaudited)                     |                      |
| Current liabilities:  |                                 |                      |
| Current portion of debt   | \$ 22,898                       | \$ 22,430            |
| Accounts payable  | 621,343                         | 687,340              |
| Income tax payable  | 6,661                           | 3,389                |
| Accrued expenses and other current liabilities:   |                                 |                      |
| Compensation and benefits   | 120,791                         | 153,408              |
| Other   | 216,319                         | 225,125              |
| Total current liabilities   | 988,012                         | 1,091,692            |
| Long-term debt, less current portion  | 272,694                         | 274,622              |
| Non-recourse debt   | 1,470,000                       | 1,470,000            |
| Other long-term obligations:  |                                 |                      |
| Compensation and benefits   | 272,464                         | 277,247              |
| Deferred gain on sale of assets   | 179,757                         | 179,757              |
| Other long-term obligations   | 242,359                         | 244,958              |
| Total other long-term obligations   | 694,580                         | 701,962              |
| Noncontrolling interest in joint venture  | 34,558                          | 28,059               |
| Shareholders' equity:   |                                 |                      |
| Preferred stock—no par value; 10,000,000 shares authorized; Series D ESOP: \$.01 stated value; 734,486 and 810,654 shares |                                 |                      |
| outstanding   | 33,052                          | 36,479               |
| Common stock—\$2.50 par value; 200,000,000 shares authorized; 85,013,810 and 84,624,726 shares outstanding                | 212,535                         | 211,562              |
| Additional paid-in capital  | 991,940                         | 989,912              |
| Accumulated deficit   | (565,699)                       | (602,242)            |
| Accumulated other comprehensive loss  | (135,945)                       | (132,515)            |
| Total OfficeMax shareholders' equity  | 535,883                         | 503,196              |
| Total liabilities and shareholders' equity  | \$3,995,727                     | \$4,069,531          |
|   |                                 |                      |

See accompanying notes to quarterly consolidated financial statements

# OfficeMax Incorporated and Subsidiaries Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

(thousands)

|   | Six Mont         | hs Ended                   |  |
|---|------------------|----------------------------|--|
|   | June 26,<br>2010 | June 27,<br>2009<br>dited) |  |
|   | (unau            |                            |  |
| Cash provided by operations:  |                  |                            |  |
| Net income (loss) attributable to OfficeMax and noncontrolling interest | \$ 39,252        | \$ (4,697)                 |  |
| Non-cash items in net income (loss):                                    |                  |                            |  |
| Earnings from affiliates  | (3,527)          | (3,261)                    |  |
| Depreciation and amortization   | 51,938           | 60,419                     |  |
| Pension and other postretirement expense                                | 2,586            | 7,252                      |  |
| Other   | 6,627            | 4,179                      |  |
| Changes in operating assets and liabilities:                            |                  |                            |  |
| Receivables   | 32,134           | 48,814                     |  |
| Inventories   | 40,949           | 163,290                    |  |
| Accounts payable and accrued liabilities                                | (110,245)        | (192,096)                  |  |
| Current and deferred income taxes                                       | 18,880           | (20,049)                   |  |
| Other   | (10,606)         | 50,356                     |  |
| Cash provided by operations   | 67,988           | 114,207                    |  |
| Cash provided by (used for) investment:                                 |                  |                            |  |
| Expenditures for property and equipment                                 | (28,589)         | (18,591)                   |  |
| Distribution from escrow account  |                  | 25,142                     |  |
| Withdrawal from insurance policies                                      |                  | 14,977                     |  |
| Proceeds from sale of assets  | 613              | 642                        |  |
| Cash provided by (used for) investment                                  | (27,976)         | 22,170                     |  |
| Cash used for financing:  |                  |                            |  |
| Cash dividends paid—preferred stock                                     | (1,348)          | (1,662)                    |  |
| Payments of short-term debt, net  | _                | (4,465)                    |  |
| Payments of long-term debt  | (1,697)          | (15,836)                   |  |
| Purchase of Series D preferred stock                                    | (3,165)          | (4,877)                    |  |
| Other   | 1,786            | 6,321                      |  |
| Cash used for financing   | (4,424)          | (20,519)                   |  |
| Effect of exchange rates on cash and cash equivalents                   | (955)            | 9,202                      |  |
| Increase in cash and cash equivalents                                   | 34,633           | 125,060                    |  |
| Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period                        | 486,570          | 170,779                    |  |
| Cash and cash equivalents at end of period                              | \$ 521,203       | \$ 295,839                 |  |

See accompanying notes to quarterly consolidated financial statements

#### 1. Basis of Presentation

OfficeMax Incorporated ("OfficeMax," the "Company" or "we") is a leader in both business-to-business and retail office products distribution. The Company provides office supplies and paper, print and document services, technology products and solutions and office furniture to large, medium and small businesses, government offices and consumers. OfficeMax customers are serviced by over 30,000 associates through direct sales, catalogs, the Internet and a network of retail stores located throughout the United States, Canada, Australia, New Zealand and Mexico.

The accompanying quarterly consolidated financial statements include the accounts of OfficeMax and all majority-owned subsidiaries, except our 88%owned subsidiary historically based in Cuba which is accounted for as an investment due to various asset restrictions. We also consolidate the variable interest entities in which the Company is the primary beneficiary. All significant intercompany balances and transactions have been eliminated in consolidation. These financial statements are for the thirteen-week and twenty-six-week periods ended on June 26, 2010 (also referred to as the "second quarter of 2010" or the "three months ended June 26, 2010" and the "first six months of 2010" or the "the six months ended June 26, 2010", respectively) and the thirteen-week and twenty-sixweek periods ended on June 27, 2009 (also referred to as the "second quarter of 2009" or the "three months ended June 27, 2009" and "first six months of 2009" or the "the six months ended June 27, 2009", respectively). The Company's fiscal year ends on the last Saturday in December. Due primarily to statutory reporting requirements, the Company's international businesses maintain December 31 year-ends and end their quarters on the last calendar day of the month, with our majority-owned joint venture in Mexico reporting one month in arrears.

The Company manages its business using three reportable segments: OfficeMax, Contract ("Contract segment" or "Contract"); OfficeMax, Retail ("Retail segment" or "Retail"); and Corporate and Other. Management reviews the performance of the Company based on these segments. We present information pertaining to our segments in Note 10. Segment Information.

The Company has prepared the quarterly consolidated financial statements included herein pursuant to the rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission (the "SEC"). Some information and note disclosures, which would normally be included in comprehensive annual financial statements prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States, have been condensed or omitted pursuant to those rules and regulations. These quarterly consolidated financial statements should be read together with the consolidated financial statements and the accompanying notes included in the Company's Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 26, 2009.

The quarterly consolidated financial statements included herein have not been audited by an independent registered public accounting firm, but in the opinion of management, include all adjustments necessary to present fairly the results for the periods. Except as disclosed within these "Notes to Quarterly Consolidated Financial Statements (unaudited)," the adjustments made were of a normal, recurring nature. Quarterly results are not necessarily indicative of results which may be expected for a full year.

In June 2009, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (the "FASB") issued guidance which eliminates previous exceptions to rules requiring the consolidation of qualifying special-purpose entities, which will result in more entities being subject to consolidation assessments and reassessments. This guidance requires ongoing reassessment of whether a company is the primary beneficiary of a variable interest entity ("VIE") and clarifies characteristics that identify a VIE. In addition, additional disclosures are required about a company's involvement with a VIE and any significant changes in risk exposure due to that involvement. The Company adopted the updated guidance in the first quarter of 2010. There was no impact on the Company's results of operations or financial condition.

#### 2. Facility Closure Reserves

The Company conducts regular reviews of its real estate portfolio to identify underperforming facilities and closes those facilities that are no longer strategically viable or economically beneficial. The Company records a liability for the cost associated with a facility closure at its fair value in the period in which the liability is incurred, primarily the location's cease-use date. Upon closure, unrecoverable costs are included in facility closure reserves and include provisions for the present value of future lease obligations, less contractual or estimated sublease income. Accretion expense is recognized over the life of the required payments.

During the first six months of 2010, the Company recorded charges of \$14.4 million in its Retail segment related to facility closure, of which \$13.0 million was related to the lease liability and other costs associated with closing eight underperforming domestic stores prior to the end of their lease terms and \$1.4 million was related to asset impairments and other items. Of these charges, \$1.1 million was recorded in the second quarter of 2010.

During the first six months of 2009, the Company recorded charges of \$31.2 million related to the closing of 21 underperforming stores prior to the end of their lease terms, of which 17 were in the U.S. and four were in Mexico. Of these charges, \$21.3 million was recorded in the second quarter of 2009 and was associated with the closing of 11 stores in the U.S. and two stores in Mexico. These charges were included in other operating expenses in the Consolidated Statements of Operations.

Facility closure reserve account activity during the first six months of 2010 and 2009 was as follows:

|  | S                              | ix Months Ended 2010 |           |
|--|--------------------------------|----------------------|-----------|
|  | Lease\Contract<br>Terminations | Other<br>(thousands) | Total     |
| Balance at December 26, 2009                 | \$ 61,559                      | \$ 13                | \$ 61,572 |
| Charges related to stores closed in 2010     | 12,947                         | 122                  | 13,069    |
| Transfer of deferred rent and other balances | 6,659                          |                      | 6,659     |
| Cash payments                                | (11,544)                       | (97)                 | (11,641)  |
| Accretion                                    | 1,691                          | —                    | 1,691     |
| Balance at June 26, 2010                     | \$ 71,312                      | \$ 38                | \$ 71,350 |

|  |                           | Six Months Ended 2009 |           |
|--|---------------------------|-----------------------|-----------|
|  | se\Contract<br>rminations | Other<br>(thousands)  | Total     |
| Balance at December 27, 2008             | \$<br>48,439              | \$ 494                | \$ 48,933 |
| Charges related to stores closed in 2009 | 29,911                    | 1,297                 | 31,208    |
| Transfer of deferred rent balances       | 3,214                     | —                     | 3,214     |
| Changes to estimated costs               | 1,469                     | (409)                 | 1,060     |
| Cash payments                            | (11,560)                  | (1,231)               | (12,791)  |
| Accretion                                | 1,089                     | —                     | 1,089     |
| Balance at June 27, 2009                 | \$<br>72,562              | \$ 151                | \$ 72,713 |



At June 26, 2010, the lease termination component of the facilities closure reserve consisted of the following:

|                                    | June 26,<br>2010 |
|------------------------------------|------------------|
|                                    | (thousands)      |
| Estimated future lease obligations | \$ 144,424       |
| Less: anticipated sublease income  | (73,112)         |
| Total                              | \$ 71,312        |

In addition, the Company is the lessee of a legacy, building materials manufacturing facility near Elma, Washington. During 2006, the Company ceased operations at the facility, fully impaired the assets and recorded a reserve, which is separate from the facility closure reserve above, for the related lease payments and other contract termination and closure costs. During the second quarter, the Company signed an agreement with the lessor to terminate the lease and recorded income of \$3.9 million to adjust the associated reserve. This income is reported in other operating (income) expense in the Consolidated Statements of Operations. Also during the second quarter, the Company contracted with a third party for the sale of the equipment, subject to a financing contingency. Assuming the equipment purchaser obtains its financing and the sale transaction closes, we would record an additional favorable reserve adjustment at the time of the transaction closing. The liabilities of the Elma facility (\$10.2 million in total) are recorded in other current liabilities and other long-term liabilities in the Consolidated Balance Sheets.

#### 3. Severance and Other Charges

The first six months of 2010 included a charge recorded in our Contract segment of \$0.8 million (all in the first quarter) for severance related to a reorganization of our U.S. Contract customer service centers. During the first six months of 2009, we recorded \$6.9 million (all in the second quarter) of severance charges in the Contract segment, principally related to U.S. and Canadian sales force reorganizations. These charges are included in other operating expenses in the Consolidated Statements of Operations.

As of June 26, 2010, \$1.1 million of severance charges recorded in 2010 and 2009 remain to be paid and are included in accrued expenses and other current liabilities in the Consolidated Balance Sheets.

#### 4. Timber Notes/Non-Recourse Debt

In October 2004, we sold our timberland assets in exchange for \$15 million in cash plus credit-enhanced timber installment notes in the amount of \$1,635 million (the "Installment Notes"). The Installment Notes were issued by single-member limited liability companies formed by affiliates of Boise Cascade, L.L.C. (the "Note Issuers"). The Installment Notes are 15-year non-amortizing obligations and were issued in two equal \$817.5 million tranches bearing interest at 5.11% and 4.98%, respectively. In order to support the issuance of the Installment Notes, the Note Issuers transferred a total of \$1,635 million in cash to Lehman Brothers Holdings Inc. ("Lehman") and Wachovia Corporation ("Wachovia") (which was later purchased by Wells Fargo & Company). Lehman and Wachovia each received \$817.5 million. Lehman and Wachovia issued collateral notes (the "Collateral Notes") to the Note Issuers. Concurrently with the issuance of the Installment and Collateral Notes, Lehman and Wachovia guaranteed the respective Installment Notes and the Note Issuers pledged the Collateral Notes as security for the performance of the Installment Note obligations.

In December 2004, we completed a securitization transaction in which the Company's interests in the Installment Notes and related guarantees were transferred to wholly-owned bankruptcy remote subsidiaries. The subsidiaries pledged the Installment Notes and related guarantees and issued securitized notes (the

"Securitization Notes") in the amount of \$1,470 million (\$735 million through the structure supported by the Lehman guaranty and \$735 million through the structure supported by the Wachovia guaranty). As a result of these transactions, we received \$1,470 million in cash. Recourse on the Securitization Notes is limited to the proceeds of the applicable pledged Installment Notes and underlying Lehman or Wachovia guaranty, and therefore there is no recourse against OfficeMax.

On September 15, 2008, Lehman, the guarantor of half of the Installment Notes and the Securitization Notes, filed a petition in the United States Bankruptcy Court for the Southern District of New York seeking relief under chapter 11 of the United States Bankruptcy Code. Lehman's bankruptcy filing constituted an event of default under the \$817.5 million Installment Note guaranteed by Lehman (the "Lehman Guaranteed Installment Note"). We evaluated the carrying value of the Lehman Guaranteed Installment Note and reduced it to the estimated amount we expect to collect, \$81.8 million. On April 14, 2010, Lehman filed its Debtors Disclosure Statement with the United States Bankruptcy Court for the Southern District of New York. The Disclosure Statement indicated a range of estimated recoveries for general unsecured creditors of Lehman. As our estimate is similar to the estimate included in the Disclosure Statement, we have not adjusted our estimated carrying value for the Lehman Guaranteed Installment Note.

Since recourse on the Securitization Notes is limited to the proceeds from the applicable pledged Installment Notes and underlying Lehman or Wachovia guaranty, the Lehman Guaranteed Installment Note and the underlying Lehman guaranty will be transferred to the holders of the Securitization Notes guaranteed by Lehman in order to settle and extinguish that liability. However, under current generally accepted accounting principles, we are required to continue to recognize the liability related to the Securitization Notes guaranteed by Lehman until such time as the liability has been extinguished. This will occur when the Lehman Guaranteed Installment Note and the guaranty are transferred to and accepted by the Securitization Note holders. We expect that this will occur no later than the date when the assets of Lehman are distributed and the bankruptcy is finalized. Accordingly, we expect to recognize a non-cash gain equal to the difference between the carrying amount of the Securitization Notes guaranteed by Lehman and the carrying value of the Lehman Guaranteed Installment Note in a later period when the liability is legally extinguished. The actual gain to be recognized in the future will be measured based on the carrying amounts of the Lehman Guaranteed Installment Note and the Securitization Notes guaranteed by Lehman at the date of settlement.

#### 5. Debt

#### **Credit Agreements**

On July 12, 2007, the Company entered into an Amended and Restated Loan and Security Agreement (the "U.S. Credit Agreement") with a group of banks. The U.S. Credit Agreement permits the Company to borrow up to a maximum of \$700 million subject to a borrowing base calculation that limits availability to a percentage of eligible accounts receivable plus a percentage of the value of eligible inventory, less certain reserves. Letters of credit, which may be issued under the U.S. Credit Agreement up to a maximum of \$250 million, reduce available borrowing capacity. At June 26, 2010, the Company was in compliance with all covenants under the U.S. Credit Agreement. The U.S. Credit Agreement expires on July 12, 2012.

On September 30, 2009, Grand & Toy Limited, the Company's wholly-owned subsidiary in Canada, entered into a Loan and Security Agreement (the "Canadian Credit Agreement") with a group of banks. The Canadian Credit Agreement permits Grand & Toy Limited to borrow up to a maximum of C\$60 million subject to a borrowing base calculation that limits availability to a percentage of eligible accounts receivable plus a percentage of the value of eligible inventory, less certain reserves. Letters of credit, which may be issued under the Canadian Credit Agreement up to a maximum of C\$10 million, reduce available borrowing capacity. Grand & Toy Limited was in compliance with all covenants under the Canadian Credit Agreement at the end of the second quarter of 2010. The Canadian Credit Agreement expires on July 12, 2012.

On March 15, 2010, the Company's five wholly-owned subsidiaries based in Australia and New Zealand (the "Australasian subsidiaries") entered into a Facility Agreement (the "Australasian Credit Agreement") with a financial institution based in those countries. The Australasian Credit Agreement permits the Australasian subsidiaries to borrow up to a maximum of A\$80 million subject to a borrowing base calculation that limits availability to a percentage of eligible accounts receivable plus a percentage of the value of certain owned properties less certain reserves. At the end of the second quarter of 2010, the Australasian subsidiaries were in compliance with all covenants under the Australasian Credit Agreement. The Australasian Credit Agreement expires on March 15, 2013.

Borrowings and availability under the Company's credit agreements at the end of the second quarter of 2010 were as follows:

|   | U.S.<br>Credit<br><u>Agreement</u> | Canadian<br>Credit<br><u>Agreement</u><br>(millions of U.S. dollars) | Australasian<br>Credit<br>Agreement | Total   |
|---|------------------------------------|--|-------------------------------------|---------|
| Maximum aggregate available borrowing amount                            | \$ 528.1                           | \$ 41.7  | \$ 56.6                             | \$626.4 |
| Less: Stand-by letters of credit  | (57.5)                             | —  | —                                   | (57.5)  |
| Amount available for borrowing at the end of the second quarter of 2010 | \$ 470.6                           | \$ 41.7  | \$ 56.6                             | \$568.9 |
| Maximum borrowings outstanding during first six months of 2010          | \$ —                               | \$ —   | \$ —                                | \$ —    |

Borrowings and availability under the Company's credit agreements at December 26, 2009 were as follows:

|   | U.S.<br>Credit<br><u>Agreement</u> | Canadian<br>Credit<br><u>Agreement</u><br>(millions of U.S. dollars) | Total   |
|---|------------------------------------|--|---------|
| Maximum aggregate available borrowing amount        | \$ 534.4                           | \$ 39.7  | \$574.1 |
| Less: Stand-by letters of credit                    | (61.1)                             |  | (61.1)  |
| Amount available for borrowing at December 26, 2009 | \$ 473.3                           | \$ 39.7  | \$513.0 |

#### Cash Paid for Interest

Cash payments for interest, excluding payments related to the timber notes, were \$16.7 million and \$17.3 million for the first six months of 2010 and 2009, respectively. Cash interest payments made on the Securitization Notes are completely offset by interest payments received on the Installment Notes.

#### 6. Investments in Affiliates

In connection with the sale of the paper, forest products and timberland assets in 2004, the Company invested \$175 million in the securities of affiliates of Boise Cascade, L.L.C. Due to the restructuring conducted by those affiliates, the investment is currently in Boise Cascade Holdings, L.L.C. (the "Boise Investment"). A portion of the securities received in exchange for the Company's investment carry no voting rights. This investment is accounted for under the cost method as the Company does not have the ability to significantly influence its operating and financial policies. This investment is included in investment in affiliates in the Consolidated Balance Sheets.

Through its investment in Boise Inc., Boise Cascade Holdings, L.L.C. indirectly owned an interest in Boise White Paper, L.L.C. OfficeMax is obligated by contract to purchase its North American requirements for cut-size office paper from Boise White Paper, L.L.C. During the first quarter of 2010, Boise Cascade Holdings, L.L.C. sold its remaining investment in Boise Inc. As a result of the sale, the Company estimated the fair value of its investment in Boise Cascade Holdings, L.L.C. and concluded that there was no impairment to the carrying value of the investment. The Company continues to monitor and assess this investment and industry. Also as a result of the sale, Boise White Paper, L.L.C. is no longer a related party to the Company, and as such, amounts presented as related party receivables of \$6.5 million and related party payables of \$37.1 million at December 26, 2009 have been included in "Receivables, net" and "Accounts Payable", respectively.

The Boise Investment represented a continuing involvement in the operations of the business we sold in 2004. Therefore, approximately \$180 million of gain realized from the sale in 2004 was deferred. This gain is expected to be recognized in earnings as the Company's investment is reduced.

The non-voting securities of Boise Cascade Holdings, L.L.C. accrue dividends daily at the rate of 8% per annum on the liquidation value plus accumulated dividends. Dividends accumulate semiannually to the extent not paid in cash on the last day of June and December. The Company recognized dividend income on this investment of \$1.8 million and \$1.6 million in the second quarter of 2010 and 2009, respectively, and \$3.5 million and \$3.3 million in the first six months of 2010 and 2009, respectively.

The Company receives distributions on the Boise Investment for the income tax liability associated with its share of allocated earnings. The Company did not receive any tax-related distributions in the first six months of 2010 and received \$2.6 million in the first six months of 2009.

#### 7. Financial Instruments

#### Fair Value of Financial Instruments

The carrying amounts of cash and cash equivalents, trade accounts receivable, other assets (non-derivatives), short-term borrowings and trade accounts payable approximate fair value because of the short maturity of these instruments. The following table presents the carrying amounts and estimated fair values of the Company's other financial instruments at June 26, 2010 and December 26, 2009. The fair value of a financial instrument is the estimated amount at which the instrument could be exchanged in a current transaction between willing parties.

|                          | June                      | June 26, 2010         |                                     | r 26, 2009    |
|--------------------------|---------------------------|-----------------------|-------------------------------------|---------------|
|                          | Carrying<br><u>Amount</u> | Fair<br>value<br>(mil | Carrying<br><u>Amount</u><br>lions) | Fair<br>value |
| Debt:                    |                           | ,                     |                                     |               |
| Fixed-rate debt          | \$ 280.2                  | \$246.8               | \$ 280.9                            | \$ 190.8      |
| Variable-rate debt       | 15.4                      | 15.1                  | 16.7                                | 16.4          |
| Timber notes securitized |                           |                       |                                     |               |
| Wachovia                 | \$ 735.0                  | \$791.5               | \$ 735.0                            | \$ 754.8      |
| Lehman                   | 735.0                     | 81.8                  | 735.0                               | 81.8          |
| Financial assets:        |                           |                       |                                     |               |
| Timber notes receivable  |                           |                       |                                     |               |
| Wachovia                 | \$ 817.5                  | \$865.0               | \$ 817.5                            | \$ 823.6      |
| Lehman                   | 81.8                      | 81.8                  | 81.8                                | 81.8          |

In establishing a fair value, there is a fair value hierarchy that prioritizes the inputs to valuation techniques used to measure fair value. The basis of the fair value measurement is categorized in three levels, in order of priority, as described below:

Level 1: Unadjusted quoted prices in active markets that are accessible at the measurement date for identical, unrestricted assets or liabilities.

Level 2: Quoted prices in markets that are not active, or financial instruments for which all significant inputs are observable; either directly or indirectly.

Level 3: Prices or valuation techniques that require inputs that are both significant to the fair value measurement and unobservable; thus, reflecting assumptions about the market participants.

The carrying amounts shown in the table are included in the Consolidated Balance Sheets under the indicated captions. The following methods and assumptions were used to estimate the fair value of each class of financial instruments:

- Timber notes receivable: The fair value of the Installment Notes guaranteed by Wachovia is determined as the present value of expected future cash flows discounted at the current interest rate for loans of similar terms with comparable credit risk (Level 2 inputs). The fair value of the Lehman Guaranteed Installment Note reflects the estimated future cash flows of the note considering the estimated effects of the Lehman bankruptcy (Level 3 inputs).
- Debt: The fair value of the Company's debt is estimated based on recent quoted market prices when available or by discounting the future cash flows of each instrument at rates currently offered to the Company for similar debt instruments of comparable maturities (Level 2 inputs).
- Securitization notes payable: The fair value of the Securitization Notes supported by Wachovia is estimated by discounting the future cash flows of the instruments at rates currently available to the Company for similar instruments of comparable maturities (Level 2 inputs). The fair value of the Securitization Notes supported by Lehman is estimated based on the future cash flows of the instruments in a bankruptcy proceeding (Level 3 inputs).

For the six months ended June 26, 2010, there was no change in assets and liabilities measured at estimated fair value using Level 3 inputs.

#### 8. Income Taxes

The Company or its subsidiaries file income tax returns in the U.S. Federal jurisdiction, and multiple state and foreign jurisdictions. Years prior to 2006 are no longer subject to U.S. Federal income tax examination, and the Company is no longer subject to income tax examinations in its major state jurisdictions for years before 2003.

At the time of the sale of the timberlands in 2004, we generated a tax gain and recognized the related deferred tax liability. The timber installment note structure allowed the Company to defer the resulting tax liability of \$543 million until 2020, the maturity date for the Installment Notes. Due to the Lehman bankruptcy and note defaults, the Lehman portion of the gain will be triggered when the Lehman Guaranteed Installment Note is transferred to the Securitization Note holders as payment and/or when the Lehman bankruptcy is resolved. At that time, we expect to reduce the estimated cash payment due by utilizing our available alternative minimum tax credits.

As of June 26, 2010, the Company had \$20.9 million of total gross unrecognized tax benefits. During the first six months of 2010, the Company increased the unrecognized tax benefit as we derecognized amounts for

positions relating to temporary differences. Of the total gross unrecognized benefits, approximately \$6.4 million represents the amount of unrecognized tax benefits that, if recognized, would favorably affect the Company's effective income tax rate in future periods. The Company does not anticipate any tax settlements to occur within the next twelve months.

A reconciliation of the beginning and ending gross unrecognized tax benefits is as follows:

|  | Amount      |
|--|-------------|
|  | (thousands) |
| Balance at December 26, 2009                 | \$ 8,247    |
| Increase related to prior year tax positions | 12,966      |
| Settlement                                   | (329)       |
| Balance at June 26, 2010                     | \$ 20,884   |

During the first six months of 2010 and 2009, the Company made cash payments for income taxes, net of refunds received, as follows:

|                        | 2010     | 2009      |
|------------------------|----------|-----------|
|                        | (tł      | iousands) |
| Cash tax payments, net | \$ 3,815 | \$ 11,685 |

#### 9. Postretirement Benefit Plans

The following represents the components of net periodic pension and other postretirement benefit costs (income) which are recorded in general and administrative expense in the Consolidated Statements of Operations:

|   | Pension          | Benefits         | Other E          | r Benefits       |  |
|---|------------------|------------------|------------------|------------------|--|
|   | Three Mon        | ths Ended        | Three Mon        | ths Ended        |  |
|   | June 26,<br>2010 | June 27,<br>2009 | June 26,<br>2010 | June 27,<br>2009 |  |
|   |                  | (thousa          | nds)             |                  |  |
| Service cost                                  | \$ 707           | \$ 1,126         | \$ 66            | \$ 55            |  |
| Interest cost                                 | 18,494           | 18,965           | 310              | 297              |  |
| Expected return on plan assets                | (20,872)         | (18,943)         | —                |                  |  |
| Recognized actuarial loss                     | 3,273            | 1,646            | 64               | 46               |  |
| Amortization of prior service costs and other | —                |                  | (1,002)          | (997)            |  |
| Net periodic benefit cost (income)            | \$ 1,602         | \$ 2,794         | \$ (562)         | \$ (599)         |  |

|   | Pension 1<br>Six Month |                      | Other H<br>Six Mont |                  |
|---|------------------------|----------------------|---------------------|------------------|
|   | June 26,<br>2010       | June 27,<br>2009     | June 26,<br>2010    | June 27,<br>2009 |
| Service cost                                  | \$ 1,383               | (thousa)<br>\$ 2,253 | nds)<br>\$ 131      | \$ 94            |
| Interest cost                                 | 37,107                 | 37,929               | 605                 | 576              |
| Expected return on plan assets                | (41,747)               | (38,737)             | _                   |                  |
| Recognized actuarial loss                     | 6,619                  | 7,037                | 112                 | 96               |
| Amortization of prior service costs and other | 379                    |                      | (2,003)             | (1,996)          |
| Net periodic benefit cost (income)            | \$ 3,741               | \$ 8,482             | \$(1,155)           | \$(1,230)        |



The Company expects to fund the minimum pension contribution requirement for 2010 of approximately \$3.8 million, with cash. As of June 26, 2010, \$1.8 million in cash has been contributed.

#### **10. Segment Information**

The Company manages its business using three reportable segments: Contract, Retail and Corporate and Other. Management reviews the performance of the Company based on these segments.

Contract distributes a broad line of items for the office, including office supplies and paper, technology products and solutions, print and document services and office furniture. Contract sells directly to large corporate and government offices, as well as to small and medium-sized offices in the United States, Canada, Australia and New Zealand. This segment markets and sells through field salespeople, outbound telesales, catalogs, the Internet and in some markets, including Canada, Australia and New Zealand, through office products stores. All products sold by Contract are purchased from third-party manufacturers or industry wholesalers. Contract purchases office papers primarily from Boise White Paper, L.L.C., under a paper supply contract with an initial term that expires in 2016.

Retail is a retail distributor of office supplies and paper, print and document services, technology products and solutions and office furniture. In addition, this segment contracts with large national retail chains to supply office and school supplies to be sold in their stores. Retail office products stores feature OfficeMax ImPress, an in-store module devoted to print-for-pay and related services. Retail has operations in the United States, Puerto Rico and the U.S. Virgin Islands. The Retail segment also operates office products stores in Mexico through a 51%-owned joint venture. All products sold by Retail are purchased from third-party manufacturers or industry wholesalers. Retail purchases office papers primarily from Boise White Paper, L.L.C., under the paper supply contract described above.

Corporate and Other includes corporate support staff services and certain other legacy expenses as well as the related assets and liabilities. The income and expense related to certain assets and liabilities that are reported in the Corporate and Other segment have been allocated to the Contract and Retail segments.

Management evaluates the segments' performances based on "segment income" which represents operating income (loss) excluding the effect of certain operating matters such as severances, facility closures (including adjustments to legacy closure), and asset impairments, that are not indicative of our core operations.

An analysis of our operations by segment is as follows:

|                                  | Sales     | Segment<br>income<br>(loss) | Other<br>operating<br>(income)<br>expense,<br><u>net</u><br>(mil | Operating<br><u>income (loss)</u><br>lions) | Interest<br>and<br>other,<br>net | Pre-tax<br>income<br>(loss) |
|----------------------------------|-----------|-----------------------------|--|---|----------------------------------|-----------------------------|
| Three months ended June 26, 2010 |           |                             |  |   |                                  |                             |
| Contract                         | \$ 880.5  | \$ 19.4                     | \$ —   | \$ 19.4                                     |                                  |                             |
| Retail                           | 772.7     | 13.9                        | (1.1)  | 12.8  |                                  |                             |
| Corporate and Other              |           | (8.0)                       | 3.9  | (4.1)                                       |                                  |                             |
|                                  | \$1,653.2 | \$ 25.3                     | \$ 2.8   | \$ 28.1                                     | \$ (7.9)                         | \$ 20.2                     |
| Three months ended June 27, 2009 |           |                             |  |   |                                  |                             |
| Contract                         | \$ 881.7  | \$ 12.4                     | \$ (6.9)   | \$ 5.5                                      |                                  |                             |
| Retail                           | 776.2     | (2.0)                       | (21.3)   | (23.3)                                      |                                  |                             |
| Corporate and Other              | —         | (9.6)                       | (0.1)  | (9.7)                                       |                                  |                             |
|                                  | \$1,657.9 | \$ 0.8                      | \$ (28.3)  | \$ (27.5)                                   | \$ (4.0)                         | \$(31.5)                    |

|                                | Sales     | Segment<br>income<br>(loss) | Other<br>operating<br>(income)<br>expense,<br><u>net</u><br>(mil | Operatin<br><u>income (lo</u><br>llions) |             | Pre-tax<br>income<br>(loss) |
|--------------------------------|-----------|-----------------------------|--|--|-------------|-----------------------------|
| Six months ended June 26, 2010 |           |                             |  |  |             |                             |
| Contract                       | \$1,843.5 | \$ 53.1                     | \$ (0.8)   | <b>\$</b> 52                             | .3          |                             |
| Retail                         | 1,726.9   | 52.6                        | (14.4)   | 38                                       | .2          |                             |
| Corporate and Other            |           | (16.9)                      | 3.9  | (13                                      | .0)         |                             |
|                                | \$3,570.4 | \$ 88.8                     | \$ (11.3)  | \$ 77                                    | .5 \$(15.6) | \$ 61.9                     |
| Six months ended June 27, 2009 |           |                             |  |  |             |                             |
| Contract                       | \$1,809.3 | \$ 33.9                     | \$ (6.9)   | \$ 27                                    | .0          |                             |
| Retail                         | 1,760.3   | 23.3                        | (31.2)   | (7                                       | .9)         |                             |
| Corporate and Other            |           | (18.9)                      | (0.1)  | (19                                      | .0)         |                             |
|                                | \$3,569.6 | \$ 38.3                     | \$ (38.2)  | \$ C                                     | .1 \$(10.3) | \$(10.2)                    |

#### 11. Share Based Payments

The Company sponsors several share-based compensation plans, which are described below. The Company recognizes compensation expense from all share-based payment transactions with employees in the consolidated financial statements based on grant date fair value, with the offset recorded to additional paid-in capital. Pre-tax compensation expense related to the Company's share-based plans was \$3.3 million and \$2.0 million for the second quarters of 2010 and 2009, respectively and \$5.9 million and \$3.7 million for the first six months of 2010 and 2009, respectively. Compensation expense is generally recognized on a straight-line basis over the vesting period of grants. The total income tax benefit recognized in the income statement for share-based compensation arrangements was \$1.3 million and \$0.8 million for the second quarter of 2010 and 2009, respectively and \$1.5 million for the first six months of 2010 and 2009, respectively.

#### **Restricted Stock and Restricted Stock Units**

Pre-tax compensation expense related to restricted stock and Restricted Stock Units ("RSUs") awards was \$2.0 million and \$1.3 million for the second quarters of 2010 and 2009, respectively and \$3.5 million and \$2.8 million for the first six months of 2010 and 2009, respectively. The grant date fair value used to calculate compensation expense related to restricted stock and RSUs is based on the closing price of the Company's common stock on the grant date. The remaining compensation expense to be recognized related to outstanding restricted stock and RSUs, net of estimated forfeitures, is approximately \$8.1 million. The remaining compensation expense is to be recognized through the first quarter of 2013.

A summary of restricted stock and RSU activity for the first six months of 2010 and 2009 is presented in the following table:

|   | 201       | 0                      | 200       | 9                      |
|---|-----------|------------------------|-----------|------------------------|
|   |           | Weighted-              |           | Weighted-              |
|   |           | Average                |           | Average                |
|   |           | Grant                  |           | Grant                  |
|   |           | Date Fair<br>Value Per |           | Date Fair<br>Value Per |
|   | Shares    | Share                  | Shares    | Share                  |
| Nonvested, balance at beginning of period | 1,929,945 | \$ 16.24               | 2,258,961 | \$ 31.07               |
| Granted                                   | 347,356   | 14.45                  | 726,152   | 4.88                   |
| Vested                                    | (1,126)   | 33.69                  | (489,682) | 27.09                  |
| Forfeited                                 | (542,348) | 22.38                  | (574,409) | 49.70                  |
| Nonvested, balance at end of period       | 1,733,827 | \$ 13.95               | 1,921,022 | \$ 16.62               |

#### Stock Options

Pre-tax compensation expense related to stock option awards was \$1.3 million and \$0.7 million for the second quarters of 2010 and 2009, respectively and \$2.4 million and \$0.9 million for the first six months of 2010 and 2009, respectively. The grant date fair value used to calculate compensation expense related to stock option awards is based on the Black-Scholes option pricing model. The grant date fair value for stock options granted in the first six months of 2010 (all in the first quarter) was calculated using the following weighted-average assumptions: risk-free interest rate of 3.15% (based on the applicable Treasury note rate for the time period options may be exercised); expected life of 3.0 years (based on the time period options are expected to be outstanding based on historical experience); and expected stock price volatility of 69.0% (based on a combination of the historical and expected future volatility of the Company's common stock). The remaining compensation expense to be recognized through the first quarter of 2013.

A summary of stock option activity for the six months ended June 26, 2010 and June 27, 2009 is presented in the table below:

|                                | 20        | 10                              | 2009      |    |                           |  |
|--------------------------------|-----------|---------------------------------|-----------|----|---------------------------|--|
|                                | Shares    | Weighted Avg.<br>Exercise Price | Shares    |    | ghted Avg.<br>rcise Price |  |
| Balance at beginning of period | 3,249,773 | \$ 15.14                        | 1,495,795 | \$ | 31.95                     |  |
| Options granted                | 1,068,362 | 14.52                           | 2,071,360 |    | 4.77                      |  |
| Options exercised              | (370,022) | 4.80                            | —         |    |                           |  |
| Options forfeited and expired  | (104,526) | 11.20                           | (2,100)   |    | 29.38                     |  |
| Balance at end of period       | 3,843,587 | \$ 16.07                        | 3,565,055 | \$ | 16.16                     |  |
| Exercisable at end of period   | 1,515,470 |                                 | 1,434,362 |    |                           |  |

The following table provides summarized information about stock options outstanding at June 26, 2010:

|                          |             | Options Outstanding                     |                                 |             | ercisable                       |
|--------------------------|-------------|---|---------------------------------|-------------|---------------------------------|
|                          | Options     | Weighted<br>Average<br>Contractual Life | Weighted<br>Average<br>Exercise | Options     | Weighted<br>Average<br>Exercise |
| Range of Exercise Prices | Outstanding | (Years)                                 | Price                           | Exercisable | Price                           |
| \$2.50                   | 11,171      | —                                       | \$ 2.50                         | 11,171      | Price<br>\$ 2.50                |
| \$4.00 - \$5.00          | 1,531,436   | 5.6                                     | 4.76                            | 272,423     | 4.72                            |
| \$14.00 - \$15.00        | 1,057,438   | 6.6                                     | 14.52                           | _           |                                 |
| \$18.00 - \$28.00        | 533,582     | 0.2                                     | 27.65                           | 533,582     | 27.65                           |
| \$28.01 - \$39.00        | 709,960     | 2.3                                     | 34.29                           | 698,294     | 34.34                           |

At June 26, 2010, the aggregate intrinsic value was \$16.1 million for outstanding stock options and \$2.9 million for exercisable stock options. The aggregate intrinsic value represents the total pre-tax intrinsic value (i.e. the difference between the Company's closing stock price on the last trading day of the second quarter of 2010 and the exercise price, multiplied by the number of in-the-money stock options at the end of the quarter).

#### 12. Shareholders' Equity and Noncontrolling Interest

The following table reflects changes in shareholders' equity and noncontrolling interest for the first six months of 2010.

|  | Shareholders'<br>Equity | (thousands) | controlling<br>nterest |
|--|-------------------------|-------------|------------------------|
| Balance at December 26, 2009   | \$ 503,196              | · · /       | \$<br>28,059           |
| Comprehensive income:  |                         |             |                        |
| Net income attributable to OfficeMax and noncontrolling interest           | 37,888                  |             | 1,364                  |
| Other comprehensive income:  |                         |             |                        |
| Foreign currency translation adjustments                                   | (6,549                  | )           | 171                    |
| Amortization of unrecognized retirement and benefit costs, net of tax      | 3,118                   |             | _                      |
| Comprehensive income attributable to OfficeMax and noncontrolling interest | 34,457                  |             | 1,535                  |
| Preferred stock dividends  | (1,348                  | )           | _                      |
| Stock-based compensation   | 5,924                   |             |                        |
| Non-controlling interest fair value adjustment                             | (4,972                  | )           | 4,972                  |
| Other  | (1,374                  | )           | (8)                    |
| Balance at June 26, 2010   | \$ 535,883              |             | \$<br>34,558           |

In accordance with an amended and restated joint venture agreement, the minority owner of Grupo OfficeMax, our joint-venture in Mexico, can elect to require OfficeMax to purchase the minority owner's 49% interest in the joint venture if certain earnings targets are achieved. Earnings targets are calculated quarterly on a rolling four-quarter basis. Accordingly, the targets may be achieved in one quarter but not in the next. If the earnings targets are achieved and the minority owner elects to require OfficeMax to purchase the minority owner's interest, the purchase price is based on the joint venture's earnings and the current market multiples of similar companies. At the end of the second quarter of 2010, Grupo OfficeMax met the earnings targets and the estimated purchase price of the minority owner's interest, the Company recorded an adjustment to state the noncontrolling interest at the estimated purchase price, and, as the estimated purchase price approximates fair value, the offset was recorded to additional paid-in capital.

### 13. Comprehensive Income

Comprehensive income includes the following:

|  | Three Months Ended         |                  | Six Mont         | hs Ended                   |
|--|----------------------------|------------------|------------------|----------------------------|
|  | June 26,<br>2010<br>(thous | June 27,<br>2009 | June 26,<br>2010 | June 27,<br>2009<br>sands) |
| Net income (loss) attributable to OfficeMax and noncontrolling interest    | \$ 12,949                  | \$(17,728)       | \$39,252         | \$ (4,697)                 |
| Other comprehensive income:  |                            |                  |                  |                            |
| Foreign currency translation adjustments                                   | (10,920)                   | 37,252           | (6,378)          | 25,860                     |
| Amortization of unrecognized retirement and benefit costs, net of tax      | 2,321                      | 418              | 3,118            | 3,123                      |
| Comprehensive income attributable to OfficeMax and noncontrolling interest | 4,350                      | 19,942           | 35,992           | 24,286                     |
| Less: Comprehensive income (loss) attributable to noncontrolling interest  | 455                        | 4,390            | 1,535            | (895)                      |
| Comprehensive income available to OfficeMax                                | \$ 3,895                   | \$ 15,552        | \$34,457         | \$25,181                   |

#### 14. Net Income (Loss) Available to OfficeMax Common Shareholders

The computation of basic and diluted income (loss) per common share for the second quarter and the first six months of 2010 and 2009 is as follows:

|  | Three mo  | onths Ended                        | Six mont  | hs Ended                        |
|--|-----------|------------------------------------|-----------|---------------------------------|
|  |           | June 27,<br>2009<br>5, except per- |           | June 27,<br>2009<br>except per- |
| Net income (loss) available to OfficeMax common shareholders | \$ 11,761 | amounts)<br>\$ (17,714)            | \$ 36,540 | mounts)<br>\$ (4,566)           |
| Average shares—basic   | 84,928    | 76,285                             | 84,791    | 76,207                          |
| Restricted stock, stock options and other                    | 1,173     |                                    | 1,177     |                                 |
| Average shares—diluted(a)(b)(c)                              | 86,101    | 76,285                             | 85,968    | 76,207                          |
| Income (loss) per common share:                              |           |                                    |           |                                 |
| Basic  | \$ 0.14   | \$ (0.23)                          | \$ 0.43   | \$ (0.06)                       |
| Diluted  | \$ 0.14   | \$ (0.23)                          | \$ 0.43   | \$ (0.06)                       |

(a) The assumed conversion of outstanding preferred stock was anti-dilutive in all periods presented, and therefore no adjustment was required to determine diluted income or average shares-diluted.

(b) Outstanding options to purchase 1.2 million shares of common stock were excluded from the computation of diluted income (loss) per common share for the periods of 2010 presented, because the impact would have been anti-dilutive as such options' exercise prices were higher than the average market price during those periods.

(c) Outstanding options to purchase 1.4 million shares of common stock were excluded from the computation of diluted loss per common share for the periods of 2009 presented, as were 0.4 million and 0.7 million shares related to restricted stock units and restricted shares for the second quarter and first six months of 2009, respectively. All were excluded because the impact would have been anti-dilutive due to the losses reported for those periods.

#### ITEM 2. MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

The following discussion contains statements about our future financial performance. These statements are only predictions. Our actual results may differ materially from these predictions. In evaluating these statements, you should review "Item 1A. Risk Factors" of our annual report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 26, 2009, including "Cautionary and Forward-Looking Statements."

#### **Overall Summary**

Sales for the second quarter of 2010 decreased 0.3% year-over-year to \$1,653.2 million, while sales of \$3,570.4 million for the first six months of 2010 were nearly equivalent to the first six months of 2009. In local currency, sales for the second quarter of 2010 declined 2.5% compared to the second quarter of 2009 and sales for the first six months of 2010 declined 3.1% compared to the first six months of 2009. The sales declines primarily reflected the continued weaker economic environment and negatively impacted both our Contract and Retail segments. Gross profit margin increased 2.1% of sales (210 basis points) to 25.9% of sales in the second quarter of 2010 and 2.0% of sales (200 basis points) to 26.1% of sales in the first six months of 2010, related to improved product margins, including the reversal of inventory shrinkage reserves due to favorable results from our annual physical inventory counts (\$14.6 million in the second guarter and \$16.9 million in the first six months of 2010) and reduced occupancy and delivery costs in both our Contract and Retail segments. Operating expenses were negatively impacted by higher compensation expense of \$15.5 million for the second quarter of 2010 and \$28.0 million for the first six months of 2010, compared to the same periods of 2009 when we had minimal incentive compensation expense. This increase was primarily due to timing, as we did not accrue at normalized levels in the first half of last year. At that time, we did not anticipate achieving the performance targets under our incentive plans for the full year of 2009. Operating expenses were also negatively impacted by increased expenses related to long-term growth initiatives. We reported operating income of \$28.1 million and \$77.5 million in the second guarter and first six months of 2010, respectively, compared to a loss of \$27.5 million and income of \$0.1 million for the second quarter of 2009 and the first six months of 2009, respectively. The reported net income (loss) available to OfficeMax common shareholders was income of \$11.8 million, or \$0.14 per diluted share, in the second guarter of 2010 compared to a loss of \$17.7 million, or \$(0.23) per diluted share, in the second guarter 2009. The reported net income (loss) available to OfficeMax common shareholders was \$36.5 million, or \$0.43 per diluted share, in the first six months of 2010 compared to a loss of \$4.6 million, or \$(0.06) per diluted share, in the first six months of 2009.

As noted in the discussion and analysis that follows, our operating results were impacted by significant items in both years. These items included charges for store closures and severance, and favorable adjustments to legacy reserves as well as gains from non-operating legacy activities. Excluding the impact of these items, our adjusted operating income was \$25.3 million and \$88.8 million for the second quarter and first six months of 2010, respectively, and was \$0.8 million and \$38.3 million for the second quarter and first six months of 2009, respectively. Excluding the impact of these items our adjusted net income (loss) available to OfficeMax common shareholders was income of \$10.0 million, or \$0.12 per diluted share, and \$43.5 million, or \$0.51 per diluted share, for the second quarter and first six months of 2010, respectively, and a loss of \$3.1 million, or \$(0.04) per diluted share, and income of \$14.3 million, or \$0.19 per diluted share, for the second quarter and first six months of 2009, respectively.

# Results of Operations, Consolidated

(\$ in millions, except per share amounts)

|  | Three Mont       | hs Ended         | Six Month        | hs Ended         |  |
|--|------------------|------------------|------------------|------------------|--|
|  | June 26,<br>2010 | June 27,<br>2009 | June 26,<br>2010 | June 27,<br>2009 |  |
| Sales  | \$1,653.2        | \$1,657.9        | \$3,570.4        | \$3,569.6        |  |
| Gross profit   | 427.7            | 394.9            | 933.2            | 860.5            |  |
| Operating and selling expenses                               | 321.9            | 323.6            | 684.9            | 682.3            |  |
| General and administrative expenses                          | 80.5             | 70.5             | 159.5            | 139.9            |  |
| Other operating (income) expenses                            | (2.8)            | 28.3             | 11.3             | 38.2             |  |
| Total operating expenses                                     | 399.6            | 422.4            | 855.7            | 860.4            |  |
| Operating income (loss)                                      | \$ 28.1          | \$ (27.5)        | \$ 77.5          | \$ 0.1           |  |
| Net income (loss) available to OfficeMax common shareholders | \$ 11.8          | \$ (17.7)        | \$ 36.5          | \$ (4.6)         |  |
| Gross profit margin  | 25.9%            | 23.8%            | 26.1%            | 24.1%            |  |
| Operating and selling expenses                               | 19.5%            | 19.5%            | 19.2%            | 19.1%            |  |
| General and administrative expenses                          | 4.9%             | 4.2%             | 4.4%             | 3.9%             |  |

In addition to assessing our operating performance as reported under U.S. generally accepted accounting principles (GAAP), we evaluate our results of operations before non-operating legacy items and operating items that are not indicative of our core operating activities such as severance, facility closure (including adjustments to legacy closures), and asset impairments. We believe our presentation of financial measures before, or excluding, these items, which are non-GAAP measures, enhances our investors' overall understanding of our recurring operational performance and provides useful information to both investors and management to evaluate the ongoing operations and prospects of OfficeMax by providing better comparisons. Whenever we use non-GAAP financial measures, we designate these measures as "adjusted" and provide a reconciliation of the non-GAAP financial measures to the most closely applicable GAAP financial measure. Investors are encouraged to review the related GAAP financial measures and the reconciliation of these non-GAAP financial measures to their most directly comparable GAAP financial measure. In the following tables, we reconcile our non-GAAP financial measures to our reported GAAP financial results for both 2010 and 2009.

Although we believe the non-GAAP financial measures enhance an investor's understanding of our performance, our management does not itself, nor does it suggest that investors should, consider such non-GAAP financial measures in isolation from, or as a substitute for, financial information prepared in accordance with GAAP. The non-GAAP financial measures we use may not be consistent with the presentation of similar companies in our industry. However, we present such non-GAAP financial measures in reporting our financial results to provide investors with an additional tool to evaluate our operating results in a manner that focuses on what we believe to be our ongoing business operations.

| OfficeMax Incorporated and Subsidiaries<br>Non-GAAP Reconciliation-Impact of Special Items on Income |                                      |  |  |  |  |  |  |   |   |  |   |
|--|--------------------------------------|--|--|--|--|--|--|---|---|--|---|
|  | Three Months Ended                   |  |  |  |  | Six Months Ended   |  |   |   |  |   |
|  | June 26, 2010                        |  |  |  |  |  |  |   |   |  |   |
|  | Net income Diluted                   |  | ıted   |  |  | Net  | income   | Diluted   |   |  |   |
|  |                                      |  |  | inco   | ome  |  |  |   |   | income   |   |
|  |                                      | Offi                                     | ceMax  | p  | er   |  |  | Off   | iceMax  | per  |   |
| Operat   | ting                                 | COI                                      | nmon   | com  | mon  | Op   | erating  | CO  | mmon  | common   |   |
| incon  | ne                                   | share                                    | eholders   | sha  | are  | in   | come   | shar  | eholders  | share  |   |
|  | (millions, except per-share amounts) |  |  | (millions, except per-share amoun  |  |  | mounts)  |   |   |  |   |
| \$ 28  | 8.1                                  | \$                                       | 11.8   | \$ (   | ).14   | \$   | 77.5   | \$  | 36.5  | \$ 0.43  |   |
| (2   | 2.8)                                 |  | (1.8)  | (0   | ).02 <u>)</u>  |  | 11.3   |   | 7.0   | 0.08   |   |
| \$ 25  | 5.3                                  | \$                                       | 10.0   |  |  | \$   | 88.8   | \$  | 43.5  | \$ 0.51  |   |
|  | incon<br>\$ 2<br>(                   | Operating<br><u>income</u><br>(millions, | Three Mo<br>June 2<br>Net<br>avai<br>Offi<br>Operating con<br>income share<br>(millions, except p<br>\$ 28.1 \$<br>(2.8) | Non-GAAP R<br>Three Months Ended<br>June 26, 2010<br>Net income<br>available to<br>OfficeMax<br>Operating common<br>income shareholders<br>(millions, except per-share and<br>\$ 28.1 \$ 11.8<br>(2.8) (1.8) | Non-GAAP Reconciliat         Three Months Ended<br>June 26, 2010         Net income         Net income         Net income         OfficeMax         office | Non-GAAP Reconciliation-Impa         Three Months Ended         June 26, 2010         Net income         Diluted         available to         available to         common         common         income       shareholders         (millions, except per-share amounts)         \$       28.1       \$       11.8       \$       0.14         (2.8)       (1.8)       (0.02) | Non-GAAP Reconciliation-Impact of Spe         Three Months Ended         June 26, 2010         Net income         Diluted         available to         operating       common       common         Operating       common       common       Operating       common       common       operating       common       common       Operating       common       common       operating       common       common       Operating       common       common       operating       common       common       operating       common       common       operating       common       common <th col<="" td=""><td>Non-GAAP Reconciliation-Impact of Special Items         Three Months Ended<br/>June 26, 2010         Net income         Diluted<br/>available to         operating<br/>income       operating<br/>income         operating<br/>income       operating<br/>income         (millions, except per-share amounts)       Operating<br/>income         S       28.1       11.8       0.14       77.5         (2.8)       (1.8)       (0.02)       11.3         \$       25.3       10.0       0.12       888.8</td><td>Non-GAAP Reconciliation-Impact of Special Items on Income         Three Months Ended       Six Mon         June 26, 2010       June 2         Net income       Diluted         Net income       Diluted         Net income       OfficeMax       per       OfficeMax         Operating       common       Operating       common       Operating       com         (millions, except per-share amounts)       (millions, except per         \$       28.1       \$       11.8       \$       0.14       \$       77.5       \$         (2.8)       (1.8)       (0.02)       11.3      </td><td>Non-GAAP Reconciliation-Impact of Special Items on Income         Three Months Ended<br/>June 26, 2010         Six Months Ended<br/>June 26, 2010         Net income<br/>available to<br/>OfficeMax         0perating       common<br/>common       operating<br/>income       operating<br/>shareholders       common<br/>income       shareholders         (millions, except per-share amounts)       (millions, except per-share amounts)       (millions, except per-share a<br/>(millions, except per-share amounts)       36.5         (2.8)       (1.8)       (0.02)       11.3       7.0         \$       25.3       10.0       0.12       88.8       43.5</td></th> | <td>Non-GAAP Reconciliation-Impact of Special Items         Three Months Ended<br/>June 26, 2010         Net income         Diluted<br/>available to         operating<br/>income       operating<br/>income         operating<br/>income       operating<br/>income         (millions, except per-share amounts)       Operating<br/>income         S       28.1       11.8       0.14       77.5         (2.8)       (1.8)       (0.02)       11.3         \$       25.3       10.0       0.12       888.8</td> <td>Non-GAAP Reconciliation-Impact of Special Items on Income         Three Months Ended       Six Mon         June 26, 2010       June 2         Net income       Diluted         Net income       Diluted         Net income       OfficeMax       per       OfficeMax         Operating       common       Operating       common       Operating       com         (millions, except per-share amounts)       (millions, except per         \$       28.1       \$       11.8       \$       0.14       \$       77.5       \$         (2.8)       (1.8)       (0.02)       11.3      </td> <td>Non-GAAP Reconciliation-Impact of Special Items on Income         Three Months Ended<br/>June 26, 2010         Six Months Ended<br/>June 26, 2010         Net income<br/>available to<br/>OfficeMax         0perating       common<br/>common       operating<br/>income       operating<br/>shareholders       common<br/>income       shareholders         (millions, except per-share amounts)       (millions, except per-share amounts)       (millions, except per-share a<br/>(millions, except per-share amounts)       36.5         (2.8)       (1.8)       (0.02)       11.3       7.0         \$       25.3       10.0       0.12       88.8       43.5</td> | Non-GAAP Reconciliation-Impact of Special Items         Three Months Ended<br>June 26, 2010         Net income         Diluted<br>available to         operating<br>income       operating<br>income         operating<br>income       operating<br>income         (millions, except per-share amounts)       Operating<br>income         S       28.1       11.8       0.14       77.5         (2.8)       (1.8)       (0.02)       11.3         \$       25.3       10.0       0.12       888.8 | Non-GAAP Reconciliation-Impact of Special Items on Income         Three Months Ended       Six Mon         June 26, 2010       June 2         Net income       Diluted         Net income       Diluted         Net income       OfficeMax       per       OfficeMax         Operating       common       Operating       common       Operating       com         (millions, except per-share amounts)       (millions, except per         \$       28.1       \$       11.8       \$       0.14       \$       77.5       \$         (2.8)       (1.8)       (0.02)       11.3 | Non-GAAP Reconciliation-Impact of Special Items on Income         Three Months Ended<br>June 26, 2010         Six Months Ended<br>June 26, 2010         Net income<br>available to<br>OfficeMax         0perating       common<br>common       operating<br>income       operating<br>shareholders       common<br>income       shareholders         (millions, except per-share amounts)       (millions, except per-share amounts)       (millions, except per-share a<br>(millions, except per-share amounts)       36.5         (2.8)       (1.8)       (0.02)       11.3       7.0         \$       25.3       10.0       0.12       88.8       43.5 |

|  | Three Months Ended<br>June 27, 2009 |           |   |   |              | nths Ended<br>27, 2009             |  |   |
|--|-------------------------------------|-----------|---|---|--------------|------------------------------------|--|---|
|  | Operating<br>income<br>(loss)       | ava<br>Of | t income<br>(loss)<br>iilable to<br>ficeMax<br>ommon<br>reholders | Diluted<br>income<br>(loss)<br>per<br>common<br>share | <br>erating  | ava<br>Off<br>co                   | income<br>loss)<br>ilable to<br>iceMax<br>mmon<br>eholders | Diluted<br>income<br>(loss)<br>per<br>common<br>share |
|  | (millions                           | , except  | per-share am  | ounts)  | <br>(million | illions, except per-share amounts) |  |   |
| As reported  | \$ (27.5)                           | \$        | (17.7)  | \$ (0.23)   | \$<br>0.1    | \$                                 | (4.6)  | \$ (0.06)   |
| Store and facility closure charges and other adjustments | 28.3                                |           | 17.3  | 0.23  | 38.2         |                                    | 23.2   | 0.31  |
| Boise Cascade Holdings, L.L.C. distribution              |                                     |           |   |   | —            |                                    | (1.6)  | (0.02)  |
| Voyageur Panel   |                                     |           | (2.7)   | (0.04)  | <br>         |                                    | (2.7)  | (0.04)  |
| As adjusted  | \$ 0.8                              | \$        | (3.1)   | \$ (0.04)   | \$<br>38.3   | \$                                 | 14.3   | \$ 0.19   |

These items are described in more detail in this Management's Discussion and Analysis.

At the end of the second quarter of 2010, we had \$521.2 million in cash and cash equivalents and \$568.9 million in available (unused) borrowing capacity under our credit facilities. The combination of cash and cash equivalents and estimated available borrowing capacity yields \$1,090.1 million of overall liquidity. We had outstanding recourse debt of \$295.6 million (both current and long-term) and non-recourse obligations of \$1,470.0 million related to the timber securitization notes. There is no recourse against OfficeMax on the securitized timber notes payable as recourse is limited to proceeds from the applicable pledged installment notes receivable and underlying guarantees. There were no borrowings on our credit facilities during the first six months of 2010.

For the first six months of 2010, we generated \$68.0 million of cash from operations reflecting net income, significant reductions in inventory levels and good working capital management. In the first quarter of 2010, a significant amount of incentive compensation payments were made reflecting the achievement of the 2009 incentive plan performance targets.

We invested \$28.6 million for capital expenditures in the first six months of 2010 and expect capital expenditures for the full year 2010 to be in the range of \$80 million to \$100 million.

#### Outlook

Given the continued weak economic environment, we are cautious in our expectations for the remainder of 2010. In the near term, we expect to continue facing challenging global macroeconomic conditions and continued weak U.S. unemployment trends. Based on these assumptions, we anticipate that for the full year of 2010, total sales will be flat to slightly lower than in 2009, including the favorable impact of foreign currency translation, and that adjusted operating income margin rate will be higher than the prior year but significantly less than the first half 2010 year-over-year improvement. We expect increased expenses related to long-term growth initiatives to negatively impact earnings in 2010, including the third quarter. Finally, we anticipate positive cash flow from operations in 2010, although lower than in 2009, due to favorable one-time cash in-flows last year and higher working capital needs in the current year.

#### **Operating Results**

Sales for the second quarter of 2010 of \$1,653.2 million decreased 0.3% compared to sales of \$1,657.9 million for the second quarter of 2009, while sales for the first six months of 2010 of \$3,570.4 million were nearly equal to sales of \$3,569.6 million for the first six months of 2009. Sales for the second quarter and first six months benefited from the favorable impact of foreign currency exchange rate changes, with the impact being

less favorable in the second quarter of 2010 than in the first quarter of 2010. In local currency, the year-over-year sales decline for the second quarter of 2010 was 2.5% compared to a year-over-year sales decline of 3.6% for the first quarter of 2010. The year-over-year sales decreases occurred in both our Contract and Retail segments and resulted primarily from the continued weak economic environment.

Gross profit margin increased 2.1% of sales (210 basis points) to 25.9% of sales in the second quarter of 2010 and 2.0% of sales (200 basis points) to 26.1% of sales in the first six months of 2010. The gross profit margins increased in both our Contract and Retail segments, reflecting improved product margins, including the reversal of inventory shrinkage reserves due to favorable results from our annual physical inventory counts (\$14.6 million in the second quarter and \$16.9 million for the first six months), and reduced occupancy and delivery costs.

Operating and selling expenses of 19.5% of sales in the second quarter of 2010 were flat compared to the second quarter of 2009 and increased slightly to 19.2% for the first six months of 2010 from 19.1% of sales in the first six months of 2009. Increased incentive compensation expense was partially offset by favorable trends in benefit-related items. Incentive compensation expense increased \$6.2 million and \$10.9 million for the second quarter and the first six months of 2010, respectively. The difference in compensation expense recognized in the second quarter and first six months of 2010 compared to the same periods of 2009 was due to management's differing expectations during 2010 and 2009 regarding whether we would attain the respective years' full-year incentive plan performance targets.

General and administrative expenses increased 0.7% of sales to 4.9% of sales in the second quarter of 2010, and 0.5% to 4.4% for the first six months of 2010. The increase primarily reflected higher incentive compensation expenses (as noted above) and increased payroll and other expenses resulting from our new growth initiatives, partially offset by lower pension expense. General and administrative expense increased \$9.3 million and \$17.1 million in the second quarter and first six months of 2010, respectively, due to incentive compensation expense.

As noted above, our results for the first six months of 2010 and 2009 include several significant items, as follows:

- The first six months of 2010 and 2009 include charges recorded in our Retail segment related to store closures in the U.S. and Mexico (2009 only) of \$14.4 million and \$31.2 million, respectively, which reduced net income available to OfficeMax common shareholders by \$8.9 million and \$18.8 million, or \$0.10 and \$0.25 per diluted share for 2010 and 2009, respectively. Such charges in the second quarter of 2010 and 2009 were \$1.1 million and \$21.3 million, respectively, which reduced net income available to OfficeMax common shareholders by \$0.6 million and \$12.9 million, or \$0.01 and \$0.17 per diluted share for 2010 and 2009, respectively.
- The first six months of 2010 and 2009 include severance charges recorded in our Contract segment consisting of \$0.8 million in the first quarter of 2010 related to a reorganization of U.S. customer service operations and \$6.9 million in the second quarter of 2009 principally related to U.S. and Canadian sales force reorganizations. The effect of these items reduced net income by \$0.5 million and \$4.4 million, or \$0.01 and \$0.06 per diluted share for 2010 and 2009, respectively, for both the respective quarters and six-month periods.
- The first six months of 2010 include income of \$3.9 million, all recorded in the second quarter, related to the adjustment of a reserve associated with our legacy building materials manufacturing facility near Elma, Washington due to an agreement with the lessor to terminate the lease. This item increased net income by \$2.4 million, or \$0.03 per diluted share, for both the quarter and six months.
- The second quarter and first six months of 2009 include \$4.4 million of interest income related to a tax escrow balance established in a prior period in connection with our legacy Voyager Panel business sold in 2004. This item increased net income by \$2.7 million, or \$0.04 per diluted share.

 Other income, net for the first six months of 2009 includes \$2.6 million of income, all recorded in the first quarter, for tax distributions related to our investment in Boise Cascade Holdings, L.L.C. This item increased net income \$1.6 million, or \$0.02 per diluted share, for the six months.

Interest income was \$10.6 million and \$15.1 million for the second quarters of 2010 and 2009, respectively. For the first six months of 2010 and 2009, interest income was \$21.2 and \$25.6 million, respectively. The decrease was due primarily to the \$4.4 million of interest income recorded in 2009 related to the tax escrow balance discussed above. As a result of the September 2008 bankruptcy filing by Lehman Brothers Holdings Inc. ("Lehman"), we recorded no interest income on the Lehman portion of the timber notes receivable in 2010 or 2009. Interest expense decreased to \$18.4 million in the second quarter of 2010 from \$19.3 million in the second quarter of 2009 and to \$36.7 million in the first six months of 2010 from \$38.7 million in the first six months of 2009. The decrease in interest expense was due primarily to reduced debt resulting from debt repayments made in 2009.

For the second quarter of 2010, we recognized income tax expense of \$7.3 million on pre-tax income of \$20.2 million (effective tax expense rate of 36.0%) compared to income tax benefit of \$13.8 million on a pre-tax loss of \$31.5 million (effective tax benefit rate of 43.6%) for the second quarter of 2009. For the first six months of 2010, we recognized income tax expense of \$22.7 million on pre-tax income of \$61.9 million (effective tax expense rate of 36.6%) compared to income tax benefit of \$5.5 million on a pre-tax loss of \$10.2 million (effective tax benefit rate of 54.0%) for the first six months of 2009. The effective tax rate in both years was impacted by the effects of state income taxes, income items not subject to tax, non-deductible expenses, the mix of domestic and foreign sources of income and the low levels of profitability.

We reported net income attributable to OfficeMax and noncontrolling interest of \$12.9 million and \$39.2 million for the second quarter and first six months of 2010, respectively. After adjusting for joint venture earnings attributable to noncontrolling interest and preferred dividends, we reported net income available to OfficeMax common shareholders of \$11.8 million, or \$0.14 per diluted share, and \$36.5 million, or \$0.43 per diluted share, for the second quarter and first six months of 2010, respectively. Adjusted net income (loss) available to OfficeMax common shareholders, as discussed above, was income of \$10.0 million, or \$0.12 per diluted share, for the second quarter of 2010 compared to a loss of \$3.1 million, or \$(0.04) per diluted share, for the second quarter of 2009. For the first six months of 2010 and 2009, adjusted net income (loss) available to OfficeMax common shareholders was income of \$43.5 million, or \$0.51 per diluted share, for 2010 compared to income of \$14.3 million, or \$0.19 per diluted share, for 2009.

#### Segment Discussion

We manage our business using three reportable segments: OfficeMax, Contract; OfficeMax, Retail; and Corporate and Other.

OfficeMax, Contract ("Contract segment" or "Contract") distributes a broad line of items for the office, including office supplies and paper, technology products and solutions, office furniture, and print and document services. Contract sells directly to large corporate and government offices, as well as to small and medium-sized offices in the United States, Canada, Australia and New Zealand. This segment markets and sells through field salespeople, outbound telesales, catalogs, the Internet and in some markets, including Canada, Australia and New Zealand, through office products stores.

OfficeMax, Retail ("Retail segment" or "Retail") is a retail distributor of office supplies and paper, print and document services, technology products and solutions and office furniture. In addition, this segment contracts with large national retail chains to supply office and school supplies to be sold in their stores. Our Retail office supply stores feature OfficeMax ImPress, an in-store module devoted to print-for-pay and related services. Our Retail segment has operations in the United States, Puerto Rico and the U.S. Virgin Islands. Our Retail segment also operates office products stores in Mexico through a 51%-owned joint venture.

Corporate and Other includes support staff services and certain other legacy expenses as well as the related assets and liabilities. The income and expense related to certain assets and liabilities that are reported in the Corporate and Other segment have been allocated to the Contract and Retail segments.

Management evaluates the segments' performances based on "segment income" which represents operating income (loss) excluding the effect of certain operating matters such as severances, facility closures (including adjustments to legacy closures) and asset impairments, that are not indicative of our core operations.

## OfficeMax, Contract

(\$ in millions)

|  | Three Mont       | hs Ended         | Six Months       | s Ended          |
|--|------------------|------------------|------------------|------------------|
|  | June 26,<br>2010 | June 27,<br>2009 | June 26,<br>2010 | June 27,<br>2009 |
| Sales  | \$880.5          | \$ 881.7         | \$1,843.5        | \$1,809.3        |
| Gross profit   | 199.9            | 181.5            | 418.3            | 376.1            |
| Gross profit margin  | 22.7%            | 20.6%            | 22.7%            | 20.8%            |
| Operating, selling and general and administrative expenses | 180.5            | 169.1            | 365.2            | 342.2            |
| Percentage of sales  | 20.5%            | 19.2%            | 19.8%            | 18.9%            |
| Segment income   | \$ 19.4          | \$ 12.4          | \$ 53.1          | \$ 33.9          |
| Percentage of sales  | 2.2%             | 1.4%             | 2.9%             | 1.9%             |
| Sales by Product Line                                      |                  |                  |                  |                  |
| Office supplies and paper                                  | \$496.2          | \$ 514.5         | \$1,059.3        | \$1,069.3        |
| Technology products  | 296.3            | 287.4            | 608.3            | 575.9            |
| Office furniture   | 88.0             | 79.8             | 175.9            | 164.1            |
| Sales by Geography   |                  |                  |                  |                  |
| United States  | \$607.9          | \$ 630.9         | \$1,252.0        | \$1,301.0        |
| International  | 272.6            | 250.8            | 591.5            | 508.3            |
| Sales Growth   |                  |                  |                  |                  |
| Total sales growth   | (0.1)%           | (20.7)%          | 1.9%             | (21.6)%          |

Contract segment sales for the second quarter of 2010 of \$880.5 million were flat compared to sales of \$881.7 million for the second quarter of 2009. A favorable impact from changes in foreign currency exchange rates offset the 4.1% decline in sales in local currencies. The U.S. Contract sales decline of 3.6% in the second quarter of 2010 was slightly improved from the 3.9% decline in the first quarter of 2010, as the rate of sales decline related to existing customers continued to decrease and sales to newly acquired customers continued to outpace the reduction in sales to lost customers. Sales to existing customers declined 6.8% in the second quarter compared to a decline of 7.9% in the first quarter. International sales declined 5.2% in local currencies in the second quarter of 2010, primarily as a result of decreased sales to existing customers.

Contract segment gross profit margin increased 2.1% of sales (210 basis points) to 22.7% of sales for the second quarter of 2010 and 1.9% of sales (190 basis points) to 22.7% for the first six months of 2010. The increases in gross profit margins occurred in both the U.S. and Internationally. U.S. gross profit margins increased due to profitability initiatives, the reversal of inventory shrinkage reserves due to favorable results from our annual physical inventory counts (\$3.7 million in the second quarter and \$5.4 million for the first six months) and reduced occupancy expense (reflecting facility closures in 2009) as well as reduced delivery costs. International margin improvements resulted from improved product margins that were helped by profitability initiatives.

Contract segment operating, selling and general and administrative expenses increased 1.3% of sales to 20.5% of sales for the second quarter and 0.9% of sales to 19.8% of sales for the first six months of 2010. The

increase was primarily due to increased incentive compensation expense and costs associated with our new growth initiatives, partially offset by favorable trends in benefit-related items and lower payroll costs as a result of the reorganization of our U.S. and Canadian sales forces, and U.S. customer service operations. Incentive compensation expense increased \$6.2 million and \$11.6 million for the second quarter and the first six months of 2010, respectively, compared to the same periods in 2009.

Contract segment income was \$19.4 million, or 2.2% of sales, and \$12.4 million, or 1.4% of sales, for the second quarters of 2010 and 2009, respectively, and \$53.1 million, or 2.9% of sales, and \$33.9 million, or 1.9% of sales, for the first six months of 2010 and 2009, respectively. The increase in segment income for both periods was primarily attributable to the gross margin rate improvement as well as favorable impacts from changes in foreign currency exchange rates (\$0.9 million for the second quarter of 2010 and \$5.7 million for the first six months of 2010), which were partially offset by the higher incentive compensation expense.

# OfficeMax, Retail

### (\$ in millions)

|  | Three Mont       | hs Ended         | Six Months       | s Ended          |
|--|------------------|------------------|------------------|------------------|
|  | June 26,<br>2010 | June 27,<br>2009 | June 26,<br>2010 | June 27,<br>2009 |
| Sales  | \$772.7          | \$ 776.2         | \$1,726.9        | \$1,760.3        |
| Gross profit   | 227.8            | 213.4            | 514.9            | 484.4            |
| Gross profit margin  | 29.5%            | 27.5%            | 29.8%            | 27.5%            |
| Operating, selling and general and administrative expenses | 213.9            | 215.4            | 462.3            | 461.1            |
| Percentage of sales  | 27.7%            | 27.8%            | 26.8%            | 26.2%            |
| Segment income (loss)                                      | \$ 13.9          | \$ (2.0)         | \$ 52.6          | \$ 23.3          |
| Percentage of sales  | 1.8%             | (0.3)%           | 3.0%             | 1.3%             |
| Sales by Product Line                                      |                  |                  |                  |                  |
| Office supplies and paper                                  | \$323.0          | \$ 318.6         | \$ 705.6         | \$ 702.7         |
| Technology products  | 404.4            | 409.2            | 919.3            | 933.6            |
| Office furniture   | 45.3             | 48.4             | 102.0            | 124.0            |
| Sales by Geography   |                  |                  |                  |                  |
| United States  | \$721.3          | \$ 737.3         | \$1,624.2        | \$1,674.7        |
| International  | 51.4             | 38.9             | 102.7            | 85.6             |
| Sales Growth   |                  |                  |                  |                  |
| Total sales growth   | (0.5)%           | (11.1)%          | (1.9)%           | (11.1)%          |
| Same-location sales growth                                 | (0.3)%           | (11.6)%          | (1.6)%           | (12.3)%          |

Retail segment sales for the second quarter of 2010 decreased by 0.5% to \$772.7 million from \$776.2 million for 2009, reflecting a same-store sales decrease of 0.3% and the impact of stores closed in 2009. For the first six months of 2010, sales decreased 1.9% to \$1,726.9 million from \$1,760.3 million, reflecting a same-store sales decrease of 1.6% as well as the impact of stores closed in 2009. U.S. same-store sales declined 2.1% for the second quarter of 2010 primarily due to continued weaker consumer and small business spending. Mexico same-store sales increased significantly (21% in local currency) compared to the second quarter of 2009 which had been severely impacted by the H1N1 flu epidemic. We ended the first six months of 2010 with 1,001 stores. In the U.S., we closed ten retail stores and opened none, ending the quarter with 923 retail stores. Grupo OfficeMax, our majority-owned joint venture in Mexico, opened one store and closed none, ending the quarter with 78 retail stores.

Retail segment gross profit margin increased 2.0% of sales (200 basis points) to 29.5% of sales for the second quarter of 2010 and increased 2.3% of sales (230 basis points) to 29.8% of sales for the first six months of 2010. The gross profit margin increase for the quarter was primarily related to the reversal of inventory shrinkage reserves due to favorable results from our annual physical inventory counts (\$10.9 million) and lower occupancy

costs, which were partially offset by a mix shift to lower margin tech items, including personal computers, and increased sales incentives. For the first six months of 2010, the gross margin increase was primarily related to the reversal of inventory shrinkage reserves due to favorable results from our annual physical inventory counts (\$11.5 million) and lower occupancy costs due to rent reductions and closed stores as well as reduced sales incentives, all of which were partially offset by a mix shift to lower-margin tech items including personal computers and printers.

Retail segment operating, selling and general and administrative expenses decreased 0.1% of sales to 27.7% of sales for the second quarter of 2010 and increased 0.6% to 26.8% of sales for the first six months of 2010. Incentive compensation expense increased \$8.3 million and \$14.6 million for the second quarter and the first six months of 2010, respectively, compared to the same periods of 2009. Both periods of 2010 were also adversely impacted by increased expenses resulting from our new growth initiatives, but benefited from favorable trends in benefit-related items, a favorable legal settlement (\$3.7 million) and reduced salary and benefit expense due to closed stores and store staffing reductions.

Retail segment income was \$13.9 million, or 1.8% of sales, for the second quarter of 2010, compared to a segment loss of \$2.0 million, or (0.3)% of sales, for the second quarter of 2009. Retail segment income was \$52.6 million, or 3.0% of sales for the first six months of 2010 compared to \$23.3 million, or 1.3% of sales, for the first six months of 2009. The increase in segment income for both periods of 2010 was primarily attributable to the improved gross profit margins as noted above and significant improvement in our Mexican joint venture, which were partially offset by the increased incentive compensation expense.

#### Corporate and Other

Corporate and Other segment loss was \$8.0 million and \$16.9 million for the second quarter and first six months of 2010, respectively, compared to \$9.6 million and \$18.9 million for the second quarter and first six months of 2009, respectively. Compared to the same periods of 2009, the second quarter and first six months of 2010 include \$1.0 million and \$1.8 million of increased incentive compensation expense, respectively, which was offset by lower pension costs.

#### Liquidity and Capital Resources

At the end of the second quarter of 2010, the total liquidity available for OfficeMax was \$1,090.1 million. This included cash and cash equivalents of \$521.2 million and borrowing availability of \$568.9 million. The borrowing availability included \$470.6 million and \$41.7 million relating to our U.S. and Canadian credit agreements as well as \$56.6 million related to our credit agreement associated with our subsidiaries in Australia and New Zealand ("Australasian Credit Agreement"). At the end of the second quarter of 2010, the Company was in compliance with all covenants under the three credit agreements. The U.S. and Canadian credit agreements expire on July 12, 2012 and the Australasian Credit Agreement expires on March 15, 2013. At the end of the second quarter of 2010, we had \$295.6 million of short-term and long-term recourse debt and \$1,470.0 million of non-recourse timber securitization notes outstanding.

Our primary ongoing cash requirements relate to working capital, expenditures for property and equipment, technology enhancements and upgrades, lease obligations, pension funding and debt service. We expect to fund these requirements through a combination of available cash balance, cash flow from operations and, if necessary, seasonal borrowings under our credit facilities. The following sections of this Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations discuss in more detail our operating, investing, and financing activities, as well as our financing arrangements.

#### **Operating Activities**

OfficeMax's operating activities provided \$68.0 million of cash during the first six months of 2010, compared to \$114.2 million of cash during the first six months of 2009, due principally to net income and significantly reduced inventories, as a result of strong management oversight, which were partially offset by

reduced accounts payable and the payment of higher incentive compensation awards in the first quarter of 2010. The decrease in cash from operations year-overyear was due primarily to the receipt during the second quarter of 2009 of \$45.0 million from loans against our company-owned life insurance ("COLI") policies. We ended the second quarter of 2010 with \$43.5 million less inventory than at the end of 2009 and with \$34.0 million less inventory than at the end of the second quarter of 2009, while maintaining our high in-stock levels. Accounts payable at the end of the second quarter of 2010 were \$66.0 million lower than at the end of 2009, primarily reflecting reduced purchases and the timing of certain payments. In the first quarter of 2010, incentive compensation payments were made reflecting the achievement of the 2009 incentive plan performance targets. The targets were not achieved in 2008. Therefore, the amount of incentive payments made in 2009 was insignificant.

During the second quarter of 2009, we monetized \$60.0 million from our COLI policies by withdrawing the principal balances and borrowing against the accumulated earnings. The cash from loans of \$45.0 million was reported in cash from operations and the cash from withdrawals of \$15.0 million was reported in cash from investing activities. We continue to borrow against accumulated earnings in our COLI policies. We expect to periodically repay and re-borrow on these loans in order to manage our investments and minimize interest expense. For 2010, there has been no material change in cash flows related to these activities.

We sponsor noncontributory defined benefit pension plans covering certain terminated employees, vested employees, retirees, and some active OfficeMax Contract employees. Pension expense was \$3.7 million and \$8.5 million for the first six months of 2010 and 2009, respectively. In the first six months of 2010 and 2009, we made contributions to our pension plans totaling \$1.8 million and \$3.5 million, respectively. For the full year, the minimum required funding contribution for 2010 is approximately \$3.8 million and the expense is projected to be approximately \$7.1 million.

#### Investment Activities

Our investing activities used \$28.0 million of cash during the first six months of 2010 compared to \$22.2 million of cash provided during the first six months of 2009. During the first six months of 2009, we received \$25.1 million in cash related to a tax escrow balance established in a prior period in connection with our legacy Voyageur Panel business sold in 2004 and \$15.0 million related to withdrawals from COLI policies. We invested \$28.6 million for capital expenditures in the first six months of 2010 compared to \$18.6 million in the first six months of 2009. We expect our capital investments in 2010 to total between \$80 and \$100 million, primarily for technology infrastructure investments and upgrades. We expect store openings for 2010 to be less than five by our joint venture in Mexico.

#### Financing Activities

Our financing activities used \$4.4 million of cash during the first six months of 2010, compared to \$20.5 million during the first six months of 2009, as we had no significant debt repayment requirements in the first six months of 2010.

#### Financing Arrangements

Our debt structure consists of credit agreements, note agreements and other borrowings. Information regarding our debt structure is included below. We lease our store space and certain other property and equipment under operating leases. These operating leases are not included in debt; however, they represent a significant commitment.

#### Credit Agreements

On July 12, 2007, the Company entered into an Amended and Restated Loan and Security Agreement (the "U.S. Credit Agreement") with a group of banks. The U.S. Credit Agreement permits the Company to borrow up to a maximum of \$700 million subject to a borrowing base calculation that limits availability to a percentage of eligible accounts receivable plus a percentage of the value of eligible inventory less certain reserves. There were no borrowings outstanding under our U.S. Credit Agreement at the end of, or during, the first six months of 2010. Letters of credit, which may be issued under the U.S. Credit Agreement up to a maximum of \$250 million, reduce available borrowing capacity. Stand-by letters of credit issued under the U.S. Credit Agreement totaled \$57.5 million at the end of the first six months of 2010. Also at the end of the first six months of 2010, the maximum aggregate borrowing amount available under the U.S. Credit Agreement was \$528.1 million and availability under the U.S. Credit Agreement totaled \$470.6 million. At June 26, 2010, the Company was in compliance with all covenants under the U.S. Credit Agreement. The U.S. Credit Agreement expires on July 12, 2012.

On September 30, 2009, Grand & Toy Limited, the Company's wholly-owned subsidiary in Canada, entered into a Loan and Security Agreement (the "Canadian Credit Agreement") with a group of banks. The Canadian Credit Agreement permits Grand & Toy Limited to borrow up to a maximum of C\$60 million subject to a borrowing base calculation that limits availability to a percentage of eligible accounts receivable plus a percentage of the value of eligible inventory, less certain reserves. There were no borrowings outstanding under our Canadian Credit Agreement at the end of, or during, the first six months of 2010. Letters of credit, which may be issued under the Canadian Credit Agreement up to a maximum of C\$10 million, reduce available borrowing capacity under the Canadian Credit Agreement. There were no letters of credit outstanding under the Canadian Credit Agreement at the end of the first six months of 2010. The maximum aggregate borrowing amount available under the Canadian Credit Agreement was \$41.7 million (C\$43.9 million) at the end of the first six months of 2010 and was fully available. Grand & Toy Limited was in compliance with all covenants under the Canadian Credit Agreement at the end of the first six months of 2010. The Canadian Credit Agreement expires on July 12, 2012.

On March 15, 2010, the Company's five wholly-owned subsidiaries based in Australia and New Zealand (the "Australasian subsidiaries") entered into the Australasian Credit Agreement with a financial institution based in those countries. The Australasian Credit Agreement permits the Australasian subsidiaries to borrow up to a maximum of A\$80 million subject to a borrowing base calculation that limits availability to a percentage of eligible accounts receivable plus a percentage of the value of certain owned properties, less certain reserves. There were no borrowings outstanding under our Australasian Credit Agreement at the end of, or during, the first six months of 2010. The maximum aggregate borrowing amount available under the Australasian Credit Agreement was \$56.6 million (A\$66.6 million) at the end of the first six months of 2010 and was fully available. The Australasian subsidiaries were in compliance with all covenants under the Australasian Credit Agreement at the end of the first six months of 2010. The Mastralasian Credit Agreement expires on March 15, 2013.

#### Timber Notes/Non-recourse debt

In October 2004, we sold our timberland assets in exchange for \$15 million in cash plus credit-enhanced timber installment notes in the amount of \$1,635 million (the "Installment Notes"). The Installment Notes were issued by single-member limited liability companies formed by affiliates of Boise Cascade, L.L.C (the "Note Issuers"). In order to support the Installment Notes, the Note Issuers transferred \$1,635 million in cash to Lehman and Wachovia Corporation ("Wachovia") (\$817.5 million to each of Lehman and Wachovia) who issued collateral notes to the Note Issuers and guarantees on the performance of the Installment Notes. In December 2004, we completed a securitization transaction in which the Company's interests in the Installment Notes and related guarantees were transferred to wholly-owned bankruptcy remote subsidiaries. The subsidiaries pledged the Installment Notes and related guarantees and issued securitized notes (the "Securitization Notes") in the amount of \$1,470 million. The pledged Installment Notes receivable and Securitization Notes payable were scheduled to mature in 2020 and 2019, respectively. The Securitization Notes have an initial term that is approximately three months shorter than the Installment Notes. We expected to refinance our ownership of the Installment Notes in 2019 with a short-term secured borrowing to bridge the period from initial maturity of the Securitization Notes to the maturity of the Installment Notes. The subsidiaries were expected to earn approximately \$82.5 million per year in interest income on the Installment Notes receivable and expected to

incur annual interest expense of approximately \$80.5 million on the Securitization Notes. Recourse on the Securitization Notes is limited to the proceeds from the applicable pledged Installment Notes and underlying Lehman or Wachovia guaranty. **As a result, there is no recourse against OfficeMax, and the Securitization Notes have been reported as non-recourse debt in our Consolidated Balance Sheets.** 

On September 15, 2008, Lehman filed for bankruptcy. Lehman's bankruptcy filing constituted an event of default under the \$817.5 million Installment Note guaranteed by Lehman (the "Lehman Guaranteed Installment Note"). We evaluated the carrying value of the Lehman Guaranteed Installment Note and reduced it to the estimated amount we expect to collect (\$81.8 million). Measuring impairment of a loan requires judgment and estimates, and the eventual outcome may differ from our estimate by a material amount. The Lehman Guaranteed Installment Note has been pledged as collateral for the related Securitization Notes, and therefore it may not freely be transferred to any party other than the indenture trustee for the Securitization Note holders. Accordingly, the ultimate amount to be realized on the Lehman Guaranteed Installment Note depends entirely on the proceeds from the Lehman bankruptcy estate, which may not be finally determined for several years. On April 14, 2010, Lehman filed its Debtors Disclosure Statement with the United States Bankruptcy Court for the Southern District of New York. The Disclosure Statement indicated a range of estimated recoveries for general unsecured creditors of Lehman. As our estimate is similar to the estimate included in the Disclosure Statement, we have not adjusted our estimated carrying value for the Lehman Guaranteed Installment Note.

Since recourse on the Securitization Notes is limited to the proceeds from the applicable pledged Installment Notes and underlying Lehman or Wachovia guaranty, the Lehman Guaranteed Installment Note and the underlying Lehman guaranty will be transferred to the holders of the Securitization Notes guaranteed by Lehman in order to settle and extinguish that liability. However, under current generally accepted accounting principles, we are required to continue to recognize the liability related to the Securitization Notes guaranteed by Lehman until such time as the liability has been extinguished, which will occur when the Lehman Guaranteed Installment Note and the related guaranty are transferred to and accepted by the Securitization Note holders. We expect that this will occur no later than the date when the assets of Lehman are distributed and the bankruptcy is finalized. Accordingly, we expect to recognize a non-cash gain equal to the difference between the carrying amount of the Securitization Notes guaranteed by Lehman and the carrying value of the Lehman Guaranteed Installment Note in a later period when the liability is legally extinguished. The actual gain to be recognized in the future will be measured based on the carrying amounts of the Lehman Guaranteed Installment Note and the Securitization Notes guaranteed by Lehman at the date of settlement.

At the time of the sale of the timberlands in 2004, we generated a tax gain and recognized the related deferred tax liability. The timber installment note structure allowed the Company to defer the resulting tax liability of \$543 million until 2020, the maturity date for the Installment Notes. Due to the Lehman bankruptcy and note defaults, the Lehman portion of the gain will be triggered when the Lehman Guaranteed Installment Note is transferred to the Securitization Note holders as payment and/or when the Lehman bankruptcy is resolved. At that time, we intend to reduce the estimated cash payment of \$127 million due by utilizing our available alternative minimum tax credits.

# Disclosures of Financial Market Risks

#### Financial Instruments

Our debt is predominantly fixed-rate. At June 26, 2010, the estimated current fair value of our debt, based on quoted market prices when available or thencurrent interest rates for similar obligations with like maturities, including the timber notes, was approximately \$630.4 million less than the amount of debt reported in the Consolidated Balance Sheets. As previously discussed, there is no recourse against OfficeMax on the securitized timber notes payable as recourse is limited to proceeds from the applicable pledged installment notes receivable and underlying guarantees. The debt and receivable related to the timber notes have fixed interest rates and the estimated fair values of the timber notes are reflected in the following table.

The following table provides information about our financial instruments outstanding at June 26, 2010 and December 26, 2009. The following table does not include our obligations for pension plans and other post retirement benefits, although market risk also arises within our defined benefit pension plans to the extent that the obligations of the pension plans are not fully matched by assets with determinable cash flows. We sponsor noncontributory defined benefit pension plans covering certain terminated employees, vested employees, retirees, and some active OfficeMax employees. As our plans were frozen in 2003, our active employees and all inactive participants who are covered by the plans are no longer accruing additional benefits. However, the pension plan obligations are still subject to change due to fluctuations in long-term interest rates as well as factors impacting actuarial valuations, such as retirement rates and pension plan participants' increased life expectancies. In addition to changes in pension plan assets include OfficeMax common stock, U.S. equities, international equities, global equities and fixed-income securities, the cash flows of which change as equity prices and interest rates vary. The risk is that market movements in equity prices and interest rates could result in assets that are insufficient over time to cover the level of projected obligations. This in turn could result in significant changes in pension plan beneficiaries, assess the level of this risk using reports prepared by independent external actuaries and take action, where appropriate, in terms of setting investment strategy and agreed contribution levels.

|                          | June 2             | June 26, 2010                |                                     | December 26, 2009 |  |
|--------------------------|--------------------|------------------------------|-------------------------------------|-------------------|--|
|                          | Carrying<br>Amount | Fair<br><u>value</u><br>(mil | Carrying<br><u>Amount</u><br>lions) | Fair<br>value     |  |
| Debt:                    |                    |                              | ,                                   |                   |  |
| Fixed-rate debt          | \$ 280.2           | \$246.8                      | \$ 280.9                            | \$ 190.8          |  |
| Variable-rate debt       | 15.4               | 15.1                         | 16.7                                | 16.4              |  |
| Timber notes securitized |                    |                              |                                     |                   |  |
| Wachovia                 | \$ 735.0           | \$791.5                      | \$ 735.0                            | \$ 754.8          |  |
| Lehman                   | 735.0              | 81.8                         | 735.0                               | 81.8              |  |
| Financial assets:        |                    |                              |                                     |                   |  |
| Timber notes receivable  |                    |                              |                                     |                   |  |
| Wachovia                 | \$ 817.5           | \$865.0                      | \$ 817.5                            | \$ 823.6          |  |
| Lehman                   | 81.8               | 81.8                         | 81.8                                | 81.8              |  |

# **Facility Closures**

We conduct regular reviews of our real estate portfolio to identify underperforming facilities, and close those facilities that are no longer strategically or economically viable. We record a liability for the cost associated with a facility closure at its estimated fair value in the period in which the liability is incurred, which is the location's cease-use date. Upon closure, unrecoverable costs are included in facility closure reserves in the Consolidated Balance Sheets, and include provisions for the present value of future lease obligations, less contractual or estimated sublease income. Accretion expense is recognized over the life of the payments.

During the first six months of 2010, we recorded pre-tax charges of \$14.4 million (\$1.1 million in the second quarter) in our Retail segment related to the closing of eight underperforming domestic stores prior to the end of their lease terms. During the first six months of 2009, the Company recorded pre-tax charges of \$31.2 million related to the closing of 21 underperforming stores prior to the end of their lease terms, of which 17 were in the U.S. and four were in Mexico.

At June 26, 2010, the facility closure reserve was \$71.4 million with \$18.9 million included in current liabilities, and \$52.5 million included in long-term liabilities. The majority of the reserve represents future lease obligations of \$144.4 million, net of anticipated sublease income of approximately \$73.1 million. Cash payments relating to the facility closures were \$11.6 million and \$12.8 million in the first six months of 2010 and 2009, respectively.

In addition, the Company is the lessee of a legacy, building materials manufacturing facility near Elma, Washington. During 2006, the Company ceased operations at the facility, fully impaired the assets and recorded a reserve, which is separate from the facility closure reserve above, for the related lease payments and other contract termination and closure costs. During the second quarter, the Company signed an agreement with the lessor to terminate the lease and recorded pre-tax income of \$3.9 million to adjust the associated reserve. This income is reported in other operating (income) expense in the Consolidated Statements of Operations. Also during the second quarter, the Company contracted with a third party for the sale of the equipment, subject to a financing contingency. Assuming the equipment purchaser obtains its financing and the sale transaction closes, we would record an additional favorable reserve adjustment at the time of the transaction closing. The liabilities of the Elma facility (\$10.2 million in total) are recorded in other current liabilities and other long-term liabilities in the Consolidated Balance Sheets.

#### **Contractual Obligations**

For information regarding contractual obligations, see the caption "Contractual Obligations" in "Item 7. Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations" in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 26, 2009. At June 26, 2010, there had not been a material change to the information regarding contractual obligations disclosed in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 26, 2009.

In accordance with an amended and restated joint venture agreement, the minority owner of Grupo OfficeMax, our joint-venture in Mexico, can elect to require OfficeMax to purchase the minority owner's 49% interest in the joint venture if certain earnings targets are achieved. Earnings targets are calculated quarterly on a rolling four-quarter basis. Accordingly, the targets may be achieved in one quarter but not in the next. If the earnings targets are achieved and the minority owner elects to require OfficeMax to purchase the minority owner's interest, the purchase price is based on the joint venture's earnings and the current market multiples of similar companies. At the end of the second quarter of 2010, Grupo OfficeMax met the earnings targets, and the estimated purchase price of the minority owner's interest, the company recorded an adjustment to state the noncontrolling interest at the estimated purchase price, and, as the estimated purchase price approximates fair value, the offset was recorded to additional paid-in capital.

#### **Off-Balance-Sheet Activities and Guarantees**

For information regarding off-balance-sheet activities and guarantees, see "Off-Balance-Sheet Activities and Guarantees" in "Item 7. Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations" in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 26, 2009. At June 26, 2010, there had not been a material change to the information regarding off-balance-sheet activities and guarantees disclosed in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 26, 2009.

#### Seasonal Influences

Our business is seasonal, with Retail showing a more pronounced seasonal trend than Contract. Sales in the second quarter and summer months are historically the slowest of the year. Sales are stronger during the first, third and fourth quarters that include the important new-year office supply restocking month of January, the back-to-school period and the holiday selling season, respectively.

#### Environmental

For information regarding environmental issues, see the caption "Environmental" in "Item 7. Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations" in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 26, 2009.

#### **Critical Accounting Estimates**

For information regarding critical accounting estimates, see the caption "Critical Accounting Estimates" in "Item 7. Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations" in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 26, 2009. There have been no significant changes to the Company's critical accounting estimates during the first six months of 2010.

#### New and Recently Adopted Accounting Policies

In June 2009, the FASB issued guidance which eliminates previous exceptions to rules requiring the consolidation of qualifying special-purpose entities, which will result in more entities being subject to consolidation assessments and reassessments. This guidance requires ongoing reassessment of whether a company is the primary beneficiary of a variable interest entity ("VIE") and clarifies characteristics that identify a VIE. In addition, additional disclosures are required about a company's involvement with a VIE and any significant changes in risk exposure due to that involvement. We adopted the updated guidance in the first quarter of 2010. There was no impact on our results of operations or financial condition.

#### ITEM 3. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK

For information regarding market risk see the caption "Disclosures of Financial Market Risks" herein and in "Item 7. Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations" in the Company's Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 26, 2009. At June 26, 2010, except as disclosed herein, there had not been a material change to the information regarding market risk disclosed in the Company's Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 26, 2009.

#### ITEM 4. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES

#### (a) Disclosure Controls and Procedures

The Company's management, with the participation of the Company's Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, has evaluated the effectiveness of the Company's disclosure controls and procedures (as such term is defined in Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the "Exchange Act")) as of the end of the period covered by this report. Based on that evaluation, these officers have concluded that the Company's disclosure controls and procedures are effective for the purpose of ensuring that material information required to be included in this quarterly report is made known to them by others on a timely basis and that information required to be disclosed by the Company in the reports that it files or submits under the Exchange Act is accumulated and communicated to the Company's management, including its principal executive and principal financial officers, as appropriate to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure.

#### (b) Changes in Internal Controls over Financial Reporting

There was no change in the Company's internal control over financial reporting, as defined in Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f) of the Exchange Act, during the most recent fiscal quarter that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the Company's internal control over financial reporting.

#### PART II—OTHER INFORMATION

#### ITEM 1. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

We are involved in litigation and administrative proceedings arising in the normal course of our business. In the opinion of management, our recovery, if any, or our liability, if any, under pending litigation or administrative proceedings would not materially affect our financial position, results of operations or cash flows. For information concerning legal proceedings, see Note 16, Legal Proceedings and Contingencies, of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements in "Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data" in the Company's Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 26, 2009, and see "Item 1. Legal Proceedings" in its Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended March 27, 2010.

#### ITEM 1A. RISK FACTORS

For information regarding risk factors, see "Item 1A. Risk Factors" in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 26, 2009. There have been no significant changes to the Company's risk factors during the first six months of 2010 except for changes to the following risk factor to reflect the sale by Boise Cascade Holdings, L.L.C. of its remaining investment in Boise, Inc. in 2010.

*Our investment in Boise Cascade Holdings, L.L.C. subjects us to the risks associated with the forest products industry.* When we sold our paper, forest products and timberland assets, we purchased an equity interest in Boise Cascade Holdings, L.L.C. This continuing interest in Boise Cascade Holdings, L.L.C. subjects us to market risks associated with the forest products industry. This industry is subject to cyclical market pressures. Historical prices for products have been volatile, and industry participants have limited influence over the timing and extent of price changes. The relationship between supply and demand in this industry significantly affects product pricing. Demand for building products is driven mainly by factors such as new construction and remodeling rates, business and consumer credit availability, interest rates and weather. The recent falloff in U.S. housing starts has resulted in lower building products shipments and prices. The supply of building products fluctuates based on manufacturing capacity. Excess manufacturing capacity, both domestically and abroad, can result in significant variations in product prices. Our ability to realize the carrying value of our equity interest in Boise Cascade Holdings, L.L.C. is dependent upon many factors, including the operating performance of Boise Cascade, L.L.C. and other market factors that may not be specific to Boise Cascade Holdings, L.L.C. due in part to the fact that there is not a liquid market for our equity interest. Our exposure to these risks could decrease our ability to compete effectively with our competitors, who typically are not subject to such risks.

### ITEM 1B. UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS

None.

# ITEM 2. UNREGISTERED SALES OF EQUITY SECURITIES AND USE OF PROCEEDS

Information concerning our stock repurchases during the three months ended June 26, 2010 is below. All stock was withheld to satisfy our tax withholding obligations upon vesting of restricted stock awards.

| Period                    | Total Number of<br>Shares (or Units)<br>Purchased | Average Price<br>Paid Per Share<br>(or Unit) |   | Maximum Number<br>(or Approximate<br>Dollar Value) of<br>Shares (or Units)<br>that May Yet Be<br>Purchased<br>Under the Plans<br>or Programs |
|---------------------------|---|--|---|--|
| March 28 – April 24, 2010 | 66  | \$ 15.73                                     |   |  |
| April 25 – May 22, 2010   | 22  | 19.00  | ) | _  |
| May 23 – June 26, 2010    | 22  | 17.48  | - |  |
| Total                     | 110   | \$ 16.74                                     | · | _  |

# ITEM 3. DEFAULTS UPON SENIOR SECURITIES

None

# ITEM 4. (REMOVED AND RESERVED)

# ITEM 5. OTHER INFORMATION

None

## ITEM 6. EXHIBITS

Required exhibits are listed in the Index to Exhibits and are incorporated by reference.

# SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned thereunto duly authorized.

# OFFICEMAX INCORPORATED

/s/ BRUCE BESANKO

/S/ DRUCE DESAUNO Bruce Besanko Executive Vice President, Chief Financial Officer and Chief Administrative Officer (As Duly Authorized Officer and Principal Financial Officer)

Date: August 3, 2010

# OFFICEMAX INCORPORATED INDEX TO EXHIBITS

Filed with the Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the Quarter Ended June 26, 2010

| Exhibit<br><u>Number</u> | Exhibit Description   |
|--------------------------|---|
| 3.1(1)                   | Conformed Restated Certificate of Incorporation, reflecting all amendments to date.                     |
| 3.2(2)                   | Amended and Restated Bylaws, as amended to February 12, 2009.   |
| 10.1(3)                  | 2003 OfficeMax Incentive and Performance Plan (as Amended and Restated effective as of April 14, 2010). |
| 31.1*                    | CEO Certification Pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.                            |
| 31.2*                    | CFO Certification Pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.                            |

Section 906 Certifications of Chief Executive Officer and Principal Financial Officer of OfficeMax Incorporated.

\* Filed with this Form 10-Q.

32\*

(1) Exhibit 3.1 was filed under the exhibit 3.1.1 in our Registration Statement on Form S-1 dated November 4, 2009, and is incorporated herein by reference.

(2) Exhibit 3.2 was filed under the exhibit 3.2 in our Current Report on Form 8-K dated February 18, 2009, and is incorporated herein by reference.

(3) Exhibit 10.1 was filed under Appendix A to our Definitive Proxy Statement on Schedule 14A filed March 4, 2010, and is incorporated herein by reference.

#### CEO CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES OXLEY ACT OF 2002

I, Sam K. Duncan, certify that:

- 1. I have reviewed this quarterly report on Form 10-Q of OfficeMax Incorporated;
- 2. Based on my knowledge, this quarterly report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this quarterly report;
- 3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this quarterly report, fairly present in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this quarterly report;
- 4. The registrant's other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:
  - a. designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this quarterly report is being prepared;
  - b. designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;
  - c. evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant's disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this quarterly report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this quarterly report based on such evaluation; and
  - d. disclosed in this quarterly report any change in the registrant's internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant's most recent fiscal quarter that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant's internal control over financial reporting; and
- 5. The registrant's other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the registrant's auditors and the audit committee of the registrant's board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):
  - a. all significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant's ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and
  - b. any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant's internal control over financial reporting.

Date: August 3, 2010

/s/ SAM K. DUNCAN

Sam K. Duncan Chief Executive Officer

#### CFO CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES OXLEY ACT OF 2002

I, Bruce Besanko, certify that:

- 1. I have reviewed this quarterly report on Form 10-Q of OfficeMax Incorporated;
- 2. Based on my knowledge, this quarterly report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this quarterly report;
- 3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this quarterly report, fairly present in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this quarterly report;
- 4. The registrant's other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:
  - a. designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this quarterly report is being prepared;
  - b. designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;
  - c. evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant's disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this quarterly report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this quarterly report based on such evaluation; and
  - d. disclosed in this quarterly report any change in the registrant's internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant's most recent fiscal quarter that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant's internal control over financial reporting; and
- 5. The registrant's other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the registrant's auditors and the audit committee of the registrant's board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):
  - a. all significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant's ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and
  - b. any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant's internal control over financial reporting.

Date: August 3, 2010

/s/ BRUCE BESANKO

Bruce Besanko Chief Financial Officer

#### SECTION 906 CERTIFICATIONS OF CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER AND CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER OF OFFICEMAX INCORPORATED

We are providing this Certificate pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, 18 U.S.C., Section 1350. It accompanies OfficeMax Incorporated's quarterly report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 26, 2010.

I, Sam K. Duncan, certify that:

- (i) the Form 10-Q fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or Section 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (15 U.S.C. 78m(a) or 78o(d)); and
- (ii) the information contained in the Form 10-Q fairly presents, in all material respects, OfficeMax Incorporated's financial condition and results of operations.

/s/ SAM K. DUNCAN

Sam K. Duncan Chief Executive Officer

I, Bruce Besanko, certify that:

- (i) the Form 10-Q fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or Section 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (15 U.S.C. 78m(a) or 78o(d)); and
- (ii) the information contained in the Form 10-Q fairly presents, in all material respects, OfficeMax Incorporated's financial condition and results of operations.

/s/ BRUCE BESANKO

Bruce Besanko Chief Financial Officer

Dated: August 3, 2010

A signed original of this written statement required by Section 906 has been provided to OfficeMax Incorporated and will be retained by OfficeMax Incorporated and furnished to the Securities and Exchange Commission or its staff upon request.

Exhibit 3

# **UNITED STATES** SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION WASHINGTON, DC 20549

# **FORM 8-K**

# **Current Report**

Pursuant to Section 13 or 15(d) of The Securities Exchange Act of 1934

Date of Report: August 3, 2010 Date of earliest event reported: August 3, 2010

# **OFFICEMAX INCORPORATED**

(Exact name of registrant as specified in its charter)

Delaware (State of Incorporation)

1-5057 (Commission File Number)

82-0100960 (IRS Employer Identification No.)

263 Shuman Blvd. Naperville, Illinois 60563

(Address of principal executive offices) (Zip Code)

(630) 438-7800

(Registrant's telephone number, including area code)

Check the appropriate box below if the Form 8-K filing is intended to simultaneously satisfy the filing obligation of the registrant under any of the following provisions:

Written communications pursuant to Rule 425 under the Securities Act (17 CFR 230.425)

Soliciting material pursuant to Rule 14a-12 under the Exchange Act (17 CFR 240.14a-12)

Pre-commencement communications pursuant to Rule 14d-2(b) under the Exchange Act (17 CFR 240.14d-2(b))  $\square$ 

Pre-commencement communications pursuant to Rule 13e-4(c) under the Exchange Act (17 CFR 240.13e-4(c))

# Item 7.01. Regulation FD Disclosure.

On August 3, 2010, OfficeMax Incorporated (the "Company") held a conference call to discuss its earnings for the second quarter of 2010. The Company would like to clarify the answer given in response to a question received during the call. The Company expects that its adjusted operating income margin rate for the fourth quarter of 2010 will be higher than its adjusted operating income margin rate for the fourth quarter of 2009.

# SIGNATURE

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned hereunto duly authorized.

Dated: August 3, 2010

OFFICEMAX INCORPORATED

By: /s/ Matthew R. Broad

Matthew R. Broad Executive Vice President and General Counsel